International Institute of Social Studies

zafino

## Unpacking the Dynamics of Donor-Recipient Issues in Partnerships between Local NGOs and International Donor Organizations: A Case Study of GYNED Sierra Leone

A Research Paper presented by:

Mohamed Lamin Jalloh - 635235 (SIERRA LEONE)

in partial fulfilment of the requirements for obtaining the degree of MASTER OF ARTS IN DEVELOPMENT STUDIES

Major:

Human Rights, Gender, and Conflict Studies: Social Justice Perspective (SJP)

Members of the Examining Committee:

Supervisor: Karin Arts Second Reader: Kees Biekart

The Hague, The Netherlands November 2023

#### Disclaimer:

This document represents part of the author's study programme while at the International Institute of Social Studies. The views stated therein are those of the author and not necessarily those of the Institute.

#### Inquiries:

International Institute of Social Studies P.O. Box 29776 2502 LT The Hague The Netherlands

t: +31 70 426 0460 e: info@iss.nl w: www.iss.nl fb: http://www.facebook.com/iss.nl twitter: @issnl

#### Location:

Kortenaerkade 12 2518 AX The Hague The Netherlands

#### Acknowledgement

This thesis was produced with the help of a large number of individuals in numerous ways. First and foremost, I would like to express my gratitude to every participant who helped make this study possible by working with me on it. However, these people played a great role in the completion of this study, and without them, I couldn't have possibly reached the completion of this study, and I usually refer to them as the co-authors of this thesis.

My master's study was made possible by the Orange Knowledge Programme (OKP). This program aims to contribute to a sustainable society's inclusive development by offering access to education and training to professionals and organizations. Thanks, and appreciation to Nuffic and the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs for giving me such an opportunity to complete my studies at one of the best universities in the world.

This thesis would not have been possible without my research assistant, Sorie Ibrahim Koroma, who works as a communication officer at the Global Youth Network for Empowerment and Development in Sierra Leone (GYNED-SL). S. I. Koroma has done a lot for me in this project; since the beginning of this project, he has stood by me and helped out in his best way. Due to some personal reasons, I wasn't able to go home for my field work, but S. I. Koroma helped in the facilitation and collection of data between the two organizations I worked with, and I am humbly grateful for that effort, brother. May you be rewarded for this kind gesture.

I extend my sincere and deepest gratitude to my devoted supervisor, Prof. Mr. Karin CJM Arts, who embarked on this journey with me. It was a nice experience working with you, and I will say you deserve a special accolade for your tolerance and patience. You are not just a supervisor but a mentor in my entire MA career, and I am so grateful for all your efforts and guidance towards this project. I have learned a lot from you.

To my second reader, Kees Biekart, working with you always makes me feel excited because you know how to engage and relate with your students, and I admire the way you lecture. I have worked with you in one of my major courses, which is "contemporary perspective of social justice," and also in the research course "participatory action research," and I admired the way you handled those courses throughout the term. Even though it was just a short encounter in my project, I am so grateful for the feedback, comments, suggestions, and recommendations you offered in both the seminar presentations. I want you to know that those feedbacks helped shape and sharpen my paper. I am humbled and grateful, and I am keen to work with you again in the near future.

I am indebted to my respondents, a pair of discussants, who contributed greatly to this project. Wel John Tier, Linda Egbubine, my best friend, and Seraphine Aku Batse, a friend with whom we usually fight. This people has been extremely influential and has contributed to my intellectual development throughout this process, and I am humbled and grateful.

To my lovely family, I want to use this opportunity to thank and appreciate you all for believing in me, and I hope to make you all proud someday. To my late elder brother Alhaji Ibrahim Jalloh, who built the foundation in academia for me, may your kindness bring you peace wherever you are today. To my elder sister, Rosemarie Madinda, thank you so much for the advice, orientation, tutoring, supporting, and sponsoring of my bachelor program. You are indeed a prominent figure in my life. To my elder brother Mamoud Jalloh, words cannot express how grateful I am for your support and tutoring. I am humbly grateful. To my replica brother Abdulrahman Jalloh, you are my mentor, and I thank you for always being there for me. I always love you. To my family in the diaspora, I am grateful for all the support throughout these years, especially Musa Jalloh. Thank you for your tutoring and guidance. Last but not least, to my mom and little sisters Haja and Jarai, thank you all for your everyday support in calling and texting through these challenging times. I hope to make you all proud someday, and I love you all.

Finally, to my institute, my friends and colleagues are worthy of mention. At the International Institute of Social Studies (ISS), I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to my brothers from the same country, Alhaji G. Kargbo, and Ibrahim Lation Mansaray. I will never forget the moment we spent together during our entire MA program. To my best friends Linda, Seraphine, Ann, Ejiro, Joel, Noel, and Temugin, you people made my entire MA program so swift and awesome for me. All the fun and challenges we went through were worth it, and I enjoy spending time together studying with you all. I am going to miss you all a lot, and may we cross paths in the future.

### Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to God Almighty for giving me the strength, courage, patience, and perseverance to endure the challenges in my academic pursuit.

And also, to my late elder brother Alhaji Ibrahim Jalloh, who built the foundation in academia for me since I was a boy, may his kindness give him peace wherever he finds himself today.

Finally, special thanks and appreciations to the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Nuffic, and Orange Knowledge Program (OKP) for giving me the opportunity to be able to contribute to the nation.

## Contents

List of Figures		viii
List of Acronyms		ix
Abstract		$\mathcal{X}$
Chapter 1 : Introduction	1	
1.1 Background to the Proposed Study	1	
1.2 The Nature of the Problem	3	
1.3 Research Objectives	4	
1.4 Research Questions	4	
1.5 Justification and Relevance of this Research	5	
1.6 The Case of UNDP-GYNED Partnership	5	
1.7 Chapter Outline	6	
Chapter 2 : Theoretical Framework	7	
2.1 Donor-Recipient Problems as Hindrances to Successful IDO-LNGO Partnersh	ips	
	7	
2.1.1 Overview of Typical Relationships between IDOs and LNGOs	7	
2.1.2 Agency issues in IDO and LNGO Partnerships	8	
2.1.3 Information Asymmetry Issues in IDO and LNGO Partnerships	9	
2.2 Influence of Aid Localization on Donor-Recipient Relational Issues in IDO-LNC Partnerships	GO 11	
2.2.1 The Influence of Equitable and Complementary Partnerships on Don Recipient Issues	or- 12	
2.3 Conclusion	15	
Chapter 3 : Methodology and Methods	16	
3.1 Research Approach	16	
3.2 Case Study Design	16	
3.3 Sample Selection	17	
3.4 Data Collection	18	
3.5 Research Ethics	19	
3.6 Data Analysis	20	
3.7 Limitations of the study	21	
3.8 Conclusion	21	
Chapter 4 : Findings and Discussions	23	
4.1 Introduction to the Chapter	23	
4.2 Donor-recipient Relationship Challenges in the GYNED- UNDP Partnership	23	
4.3 Perception of the Influence of Equitable and Complementary Partnership Indicate on Donor-Recipient Problems	ors 27	
4.4 Measures to Ensure a Equitable and Complementary Partnership between UNI and GYNED-SL	DP 30	

4.5 Implications of the Measures for Ensuring Equity and Complementarity on I	Donor-	
recipient Challenges	35	
4.6 Challenges Faced and Lessons Learned	39	
4.7 Conclusion	44	
Chapter 5 Conclusions and Reflections	46	
5.1 Summary of Findings	46	
5.2 Reflections on Key Findings and Implications for Policy, Practice, and Research	Future 47	
Appendices		48
References		50

## List of Figures

Figure 1 : Relationship quality dimension of the Global Mentoring Initiative's seven dimensions framework for localization 15

# List of Acronyms

LNGOs-	Local Non-Governmental Organisations
IDOs-	International Donor Organizations
GYNED-SL-	Global Youth Network for Empowerment & Development Sierra Leone
GMI –	Global Mentoring Initiative
UNDP -	United Nations Development Programme

## Abstract

The purpose of this study was to examine the dynamics of Donor-Recipient issues in partnerships between Local NGOs and international donor organizations. The focus was on the case Study of GYNED in Sierra Leone. To achieve this aim, the study examined the specific aid localisation challenges arising in the context of the partnership between GYNED-SL and UNDP; how GYNED-SL and UNDP actors perceive ensuring equity and complementarity as a solution to localisation challenges in their partnership; the measures taken by GYNED-SL and UNDP to ensure an equitable and complementary partnership in addressing (or not addressing) donor-recipient relation challenges; the challenges that GYNED-SL and UNDP faced when implementing measures to ensure complementarity and equity and what UNDP is doing to empower GYNED-SL in its aid localisation efforts.

The study was conducted as a qualitative research based on qualitative methods of data collection and analysis. The development of the study sample was done using purposive sampling. Data collection was done using semi-structured interviews conducted through the zoom platform. The data collected in the study was analysed using the thematic analysis method.

The study found that the UNDP and GYNED-SL partnership was influenced by challenges such as burden of accountability and reporting and reliance on the donor (UNDP) for resources. However, these challenges can be solved through complementarity and equitability since these two can enhance understanding and diminish suspicion. The findings also identified some implications of the measures used to ensure equity and complementarity and they include improved decision-making, enhanced collaboration, and better project outcomes for localisation. The pursuit of complementarity and equity faced hindrances such as the lack of mutual understanding, financial issues, delayed decision-making, and contradictory priorities.

The results of this study are important because they add to the existing pool of knowledge about the challenges encountered in donor-recipient relations and how these challenges can be solved to realize workable partnerships. IDOs will used these findings to understand how they can enhance their partnerships with their local recipient partners. It will also be possible for local NGOs to apply the knowledge created in this study to design and improve their partnerships with their donors. The knowledge created in this study can provide the basis for policy development especially where donors and recipients are concerned. To make up for the deficiencies in the findings of this study, it is recommended that future studies should investigate the best ways of achieving complementarity and equitability in donor-recipient partnerships.

### **Relevance to Development Studies**

This topic of localizing donor-recipient relations in development aid is relevant to Development Studies because it highlights the significance of customizing development interventions to the unique circumstances and requirements of the surrounding communities and areas. This method acknowledges that there is no one-size-fits-all approach to effective development and that project success hinges on comprehending and resolving the particular features, difficulties, and possibilities of the target area. Local communities are encouraged to actively participate in the development process through such localization activities. Since local communities are frequently in a better position to recognize their own needs, set priorities for initiatives, and put solutions into action that are consistent with their goals and beliefs, this empowerment may result in more long-lasting effects.

#### Keywords

Local Non-Governmental Organisations, International Donor Organizations, Aid, Localization, Covid-19, Sierra Leone, United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), Global Youth Network for Empowerment & Development Sierra Leone (GYNED-SL)

## **Chapter 1 : Introduction**

#### 1.1 Background to the Proposed Study

Recognizing the interdependence and interconnectedness between development efforts and aid in addressing the challenges faced by vulnerable populations, including conflict and crises, has led to the evolution of the development-aid nexus (Lie, 2020). The nexus strives to produce long-lasting and sustainable changes in the wellbeing of impacted populations by combining aid and development initiatives. Key organizations that participate in the development-aid nexus include United Nations (UN) agencies, international financial institutions, Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs), donor nations and organizations, regional organizations, as well as the private sector. Western-based players in the development-aid nexus such as UN agencies and the Red Cross Movement have long viewed themselves as at the core of aid-related activities and indispensable players (Bennett et al, 2016). They serve both as implementing organizations and as coordinators of aid (United Nations, n.d). Nevertheless, since the end of the Second World War up to recent times, there has been significant expansion in the number, type, and size of donor organizations and a proliferation of players laying claim to the aid cause (Collinson, 2016). Such players include national NGOs, faith-based organizations/churches, state actors, Civil Society Organizations (CSOs), youth groups, and women's groups. As a shift in the global donor landscape, Collinson (2016) noted that IDOs have been increasingly partnering with these local and national players in delivering emergency and development responses in different nations in the Global South.

Partnerships between IDOs and LNGOs are increasingly touted as an important element of localization efforts. Localization recognizes the existent and potential strengths and benefits of IDOs partnering with LNGOs and state actors (OECD, 2017). In the development-aid nexus, localization has been defined as "making aid as local as possible and as international as necessary" by the Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC, n.p) in 2016. Jideofor (2021) described localization as the willingness of IDOs to hand over control of aid operations and reactions gradually and naturally to national and local actors.

One core element that localization principles and frameworks have focused on is shifting leadership and decision-making to national and local levels (Van Brabant & Patel, 2018: Humanitarian Advisory Group, 2019). This shift is to be achieved by promoting equitable and complementary partnerships between local, national, and IDO actors (Van Brabant & Patel, 2018; Humanitarian Advisory Group, 2019). Equitable and complementary partnerships, according to several localization frameworks involve such impact indicators as LNGOs having increased power and decision-making capacities (Featherstone, 2019: Global Mentoring Initiative, 2023), LNGOs leading and defining aid, as well as clearly defined parameters for IDOs complementing local actors in aid delivery (OECD, 2017: Global Mentoring Initiative, 2023). IDOs are increasingly employing these impact indicators in gauging the progress of localization of aid.

Nevertheless, equitable and complementary partnerships between IDOs and LNGOs are difficult to attain because the dynamics of relationships between them are intricate and multifaceted as a result of donor-recipient problems existing between the two institutions. The donor-recipient problems include divergent goals, information asymmetry agencies issues, and power dynamics. The problems emerge when the goals and interests of the donors and NGOs are not completely congruent, sometimes resulting in a difference in priorities, poor resource management, or a lack of accountability (Milner, 2006). While LNGOs aspire to carry out their objectives and maintain autonomy, donors want to make the most of the impact of their donations and guarantee that money is used efficiently (Aerni, 2006). To manage agency risks and ensure efficient and effective attainment of shared goals in the context of development and aid operations, effective monitoring, communication, and contractual structures are necessary. Despite the push to shift decision making and leadership to local actors in aid, donor-recipient issues in IDO-LNGO partnerships still persist as demonstrated by several studies (Van Wessel et al., 2020; Jideofor, 2021). This has prompted various IDOs, including the United Nations agencies, to seek to address donor-recipient issues between them and their local or national partners in the Global South through promotion of equitable and complementary partnerships in localization strategies (Global Mentoring Initiative, 2023). Strengthening and enhancing the implications of such efforts requires an understanding of the instruments and procedures employed to shift leadership and decision-making to national and local actors.

Apart from existing donor-recipient issues, the Covid-19 pandemic presented challenges that further threatened partnerships between IDOs and LNGOs. As Nicaise (2020) noted, development assistance and donor organizations encountered new difficulties as a result of the Covid-19 outbreak. To help developing countries deal with the sociological, economic, and health crises, they had to quickly offer necessities and financial aid. Partners relied on finance modalities that were different from their typical financing cycles, which increased the danger of corruption during this period. Furthermore, lockdowns, travel restrictions, and health concerns caused by Covid-19 caused project implementation to be disrupted. LNGOs encountered difficulties in providing services, carrying out fieldwork, and fulfilling project deadlines, which could have caused delays and interfered with the trust between the LNGOs and their IDO partners (Eribo, 2021). Because of the lockdown measures, IDOs found it difficult to efficiently conduct site visits and check on project progress. Due to the decreased ability to evaluate the effects of ongoing projects, possible difficulties with accountability and transparency would emerge. The pandemic and the related measures prevented many IDO-LNGO engagements and in-person visits, which are crucial for fostering relationships and understanding (Nicaise, 2020). The decreased engagement could result in misunderstandings and poor communication, which might put collaboration under stress. The threats that Covid-19 posed to IDO-LNGO partnerships warrant an understanding of the factors that influenced the equitable and complementary IDO-LNGO partnerships in the context of pandemics.

#### 1.2 The Nature of the Problem

Indeed, Partos (2022), Jideofor (2021), and Apollo & Mbah (2022) suggested that the meaningful involvement of local organizations in the global aid system can result in positive changes in aid activities. The meaningful involvement of these actors requires addressing the power inequalities through promoting equitable and complementary partnerships. Recognizing the potential of local actors, United Nations agencies, like other donor organizations worldwide, have committed themselves to strengthening the leadership of local and national NGOs in aid action and treating them as equal partners (Hutchings & Kempe, 2008: Howorth, 2010). The reality, however - as pointed out by Al-Abdeh & Patel (2019), Metcalfe-Hough et al. (2021), and Pellowska (2022) - is that many IDOs still hold a majority of the decision-making power, limiting the ability of LNGOs to do anything much else than following the lead of their international partners' pre-established plans and objectives. Similarly, Haynes & Tanner (2015) stated that, although youth NGOs often become the first responders in times of emergencies, donor organizations normally consider them to be passive actors who can only play limited roles in communicating about, and responding to, crises. The authors also asserted that donor organizations often become instructors to LNGOs instead of looking at them as significant partners in response operations.

Pellowska (2022) hypothesized that improper addressing of agency and information asymmetry issues arising from power imbalances negatively influences attempts by IDOs and LNGOs to attain equitable and complementary partnerships in delivering emergency responses. This calls for the need to deeply interrogate the implementation of practices to attain equitable partnerships between IDO and LNGOs in the Global South. Studies conducted to evaluate the performance of localization efforts in aid have been done mainly by IDOs. They often employ quantitative evaluation methods that check the outcomes of the efforts against predetermined goals. Such evaluations do not adequately reflect the reality as they frequently use information gathered from a small number of stakeholders, including donor reports or project paperwork (Mueller-Hirth, 2012; Holland & Ruedin, 2012: Bennett et al. 2015). Such approaches then fall short of the long-term and transformational shifts that IDO-LNGO partnerships hope to bring about (Pellowska, 2022). This paper seeks to contribute to filling this research gap by examining a concrete practice example of attempts to develop an equitable and complementary relationship between an LNGO based in Sierra Leone and a global IDO, and the barriers involved.

#### **1.3 Research Objectives**

Considering the potential of IDO-LNGO partnerships to strengthen localization efforts as my backdrop, the objective of this study was to examine the perspectives on, and the implications of, donor-recipient issues between LNGOs and IDOs partners and also to evaluate the equity and complementarity measures employed to address these issues.

#### **1.4 Research Questions**

Main research question: how does the empowerment of GYNED-SL, through pursuing complementarity and equity in its partnership with UNDP, influence donorrecipient problems within this partnership?

#### Sub questions

- 1. What specific aid localisation challenges arise in the context of the partnership between GYNED-SL and UNDP?
- 2. How do GYNED-SL and UNDP actors perceive ensuring equity and complementarity as a solution to localisation challenges in their partnership?
- 3. What measures were taken by GYNED-SL and UNDP to ensure an equitable and complementary partnership in addressing (or not addressing) donor-recipient relation challenges?
- 4. What challenges did GYNED-SL and UNDP face when implementing measures to ensure complementarity and equity?
- 5. What is UNDP doing towards the empowerment of GYNED-SL in its aid localisation efforts?

#### 1.5 Justification and Relevance of this Research

Donor-recipient issues in partnerships between youth-NGOs and IDOs curtail positive outcomes of these partnerships (Aluisio et al., 2022). Therefore, investigating the factors influencing the meaningful involvement of local youth NGOs in post-covid-19 responses through partnerships with IDOs is a topic that bears much relevance. The focus on the chosen topic is based on the need to collect information that can help other organizations to understand the potential of LNGOs involved in development aid and the factors that hinder their participation in partnerships with IDOs. The findings of this study can be used by IDOs to inform their program design as they increase their partnership with local NGOs, and the other way around. The findings of this study will also be relevant for students and other researchers.

#### 1.6 The Case of UNDP-GYNED Partnership

The partnership between UNDP and the local Sierra Leonian NGO Global Youth Network for Empowerment & Development (GYNED-SL) aimed at delivering the project "Low-Value Grant to Provide Psychosocial Services & Life Skills to 300 Freetown Urban Youth Slum Dwellers" (UNDP, 2020: 2). In this project, the Global Youth Network used funds from UNDP to provide psychosocial support to 300 youth residing in 6 slum areas in the Freetown urban areas affected by Covid-19. The slum communities included Kanikay, Funkia, Marbella, Kolleh Town, and Kroo Bay (UNDP, 2020). The youths were trained on youth entrepreneurship, the importance and benefits of personal and community hygiene, mental health education, consequences of harmful substances and drug abuse, soft life skills, and consequences of harmful substances and drug abuse.

According to the donor-recipient theory, the connection between an IDO and a LNGO is one in which the donor serves as the principal and the LNGO as the agent. This idea entails that donors or IDOs give money and resources to NGOs so they can carry out programs and produce particular results that are in line with their objectives (Parker et al., 2018). As the donor's agent, the LNGO is expected to act in the donor's best interests, follow their instructions, and be responsible for the efficient use of resources (Deloffre, 2016: Clough, 2018). Due to the funds and resources held by the donor, the donor organization holds more power than the LNGO. As a result, power imbalances emerge as one of the significant challenges that occur within, and influence, the donor-recipient relationship.

One of the implications of these imbalances is that those in positions of authority, typically the IDOs who act as donors, may not be knowledgeable about the situation locally or about the type and depth of change that is required (Partos, n.d.; Jideofor, 2021). Information asymmetry is the term used to describe this lack of awareness. Due to information asymmetry, the IDO may not be aware of the social, cultural, and political aspects that have a big impact on how projects are implemented (Hearn 2007: Parker et al., 2018: Clough, 2018). The IDO then may find it difficult to offer the right advice and support without a thorough awareness of the situation, which could result in subpar project design and results.

Power imbalances also lead to agency issues which embroil contradictory techniques and strategies for project implementation due to the misalignment of the IDO and LNGO donors' goals and priorities (Hearn 2007; Parker et al., 2018; Clough, 2018). Information asymmetry and agency problems can damage trust and confidence between the donating IDO and the LNGO and make it difficult to work together. Building trust can be difficult when there is a perceived lack of openness and understanding, which makes it difficult to forge productive working partnerships (Bruen et al., 2014; AbouAssi & Trent, 2016). Macrae (2002) noted that open communication, knowledge sharing, and group decision-making may be hampered as a result of information asymmetry and agency problems, which could harm the execution and results of projects.

#### 1.7 Chapter Outline

The proposed study is composed of five chapters. Chapter one is the introductory chapter. It presents the nature of the problem, the justification for and relevance of the research, the background of the proposed study, and the research objectives and questions. Chapter two discusses the theoretical and conceptual framework relevant to the study's topic and research questions. Chapter three presents the methodologies and methods employed in collecting data to answer the study's research questions. Chapter four discusses the findings derived from the data collected from respondents and secondary sources. The final chapter, numbered five summarizes, synthesizes and reflects on the findings of the study. It also provides suggestions for future research.

## **Chapter 2 : Theoretical Framework**

# 2.1 Donor-Recipient Problems as Hindrances to Successful IDO-LNGO Partnerships

#### 2.1.1 Overview of Typical Relationships between IDOs and LNGOs

Development aid coordination seeks to enhance the effectiveness of the provision of aid to vulnerable groups of people and this entails ensuring greater accountability, predictability, and partnership. Nevertheless, crises in recent times have become more complex which makes coordination and communication more chaotic among the different actors involved (Altahir, 2013). A crucial way of addressing this challenge is to focus on partnerships, especially those between IDOs and local actors. Pouligny (2003) noted that emphasis on such partnerships can generate opportunities to combine resources, expertise, and skills that more effectively deliver aid to vulnerable groups.

Mayer (2007) concurred with this sentiment and added that often the entry of IDOs into a local community generates an atmosphere of expectation, which is usually unrealistic, of the benefits that the people will get. The expectations are created by the IDOs through their large infusions of financial and other resources and aid and explicitly or implicitly offering solutions to issues affecting the community. However, the dependence also goes the other way with IDOs needing local groups to provide relevance and legitimacy to their work. This creates a benefactor-type relationship between IDOs and local ones. Gray et al. (2006) explained that many IDOs feel that it is their responsibility and mandate to dictate the course of action in such relationships, adding to the complexity of the relationship between them and local groups.

While there may be a case for this argument, it is also clear that no development aid program can be successful without input from the local community (Corbett et al., 2022). This type of situation oftentimes creates competition instead of cooperation. LNGOs usually find themselves competing with IDOs in addition to competing with other local organizations to win the bid to work with the wealthier IDOs (Mayer, 2007). The initiatives taken by the local organizations likely will be based on the donor's wishes and hence may not reflect the priorities and needs of the community (Gray et al. 2006). In a similar study, Goldsmith & Harris (2012) explained that it is important to question the type of relationship between IDOs and the local actors in communities that need aid. If the people or organizations in power are resentful or ambivalent of outsider presence, then they could hamper the activities of the international aid community. This can be done by denying them access to vulnerable individuals or specific geographic areas; establishing difficult entrance and operations requirements; and being uncompromising on issues that would make operations of the international aid communities easier. Goldsmith & Harris (2012) noted that such issues underline the importance of having a good working relationship between IDOs and LNGOs in providing development aid.

#### 2.1.2 Agency issues in IDO and LNGO Partnerships

Various theories are employed in the analysis of the relationship between IDOs and LNGOs, including agency theory. The latter is used to explain the crucial relationship between donors and recipients. Basically, a donor is a person or organization that significantly depends on an agent to execute specific tasks or initiatives (Cuevas-Rodriguez et al., 2012). By definition, an agent uses resources supplied by the donor and hence incurs little or no risk because any losses are borne by the donor. The theory analyzes problems and solutions pertaining to a delegation of tasks by donors to agents. The issues arise due to a conflict of interests between these two groups (Aerni, 2006). The agent makes decisions and takes actions on behalf of the donor, and this may be a source of disagreements and issues (Panda & Leepsa, 2017). Some of the main causes of agency issues include when the donor acts contrary to the suggestions given by the recipient; when a conflict of interest arises between the donor and the recipient; when a recipient makes a decision that is not in the best interest of all actors involved; and when an agent may act independently from the donor so as to get any type of bonus or incentive (Lister, 2000: Milner, 2006: Gailmard, 2014). From this, it is seen that agency problems are a result of different objectives between donor and recipient. The agency problems can be classified into various categories:

- *Moral hazard*: there are two main types of moral hazard problems. The first is hidden information whereby the recipient has more information compared to the donor prior to the commencement of the partnership (Panda & Leepsa, 2017). The recipient can use this hidden information to satisfy self-interests. The second type is hidden actions. Because of information asymmetry, the donor is not fully aware of the performance and fulfilment of the recipient (Bergh et al., 2019). Even though the donor can observe the final outcome, he/she is not able to assess the specific efforts of the recipient;

- Hold-up: the risk of hold-up arises from investments by the donor where he/she has no solid information concerning the recipient's intentions (Panda & Leepsa, 2017). These hidden intentions can become evident to the donor after the completion of the project;
- *Adverse selection*: another risk in the donor-recipient relationship is the donor selecting a wrong/false recipient (Rauchhaus, 2009). This problem of adverse selection may prevent relationships or lead to the collapse of the partnership.

Cuevas-Rodriguez et al. (2012) explained that agency theory discusses setting up agency relationships that may help reduce the likelihood of disputes and other issues between donors and recipients. The main types of agency theory are the principal and positivist theories. Positivist studies have focused on defining situations where the recipient and donor are likely to have conflicting goals and then outline governance frameworks that restrict one party's self-interest or self-serving conduct (Ekanayake, 2004). For instance, a recipient is most likely to work towards the interests of the donor when the agreement between them is outcome-based or when the donor has data that can be used to verify the decisions and actions of the recipient. On the other hand, Van Puyvede et al. (2012) noted that studies on the principal agency theory focus on the relationship and interactions between the donor and recipient with the aim of creating an ideal contract between the two. Under this type of agency theory, a behavior-based contract is considered the most effective because the donor buys the conduct of the recipients. The recipient is also considered more risk-averse compared to the donor and hence an outcome-based contract would overly pass the risk to the recipient.

#### 2.1.3 Information Asymmetry Issues in IDO and LNGO Partnerships

Information asymmetry is one of the causes of donor-recipient issues arising between IDOs and LNGOs working in partnership. According to Auronen (2003), information asymmetry is a concept that originated in the field of economics and has since been applied to other fields including insurance and finance. It posits that in some interactions or transactions, one partner has superior or more information than the other party leading to an imbalance that creates distortions or disadvantages in outcomes and decision-making (Bergh et al., 2019). Overall, a focus on information asymmetry offers insights into how differences in information between partners affect social and economic interactions. The concept provides a framework for understanding and addressing the resulting inefficiencies and challenges in

a donor-recipient relationship. Information asymmetry emanates from, and establishes, an imbalance of power which can lead to inefficient execution of programs and activities.

Information asymmetry is highly relevant in the analysis of the relationship between IDOs and LNGOs. The concept helps reveal the unequal distribution of information between the two parties which can have crucial implications for power dynamics, decision-making, and outcomes of the collaboration (Auronen, 2003). Dixon et al. explain that in relation to knowledge and contextual understanding, LNGOs may have a better understanding of the local context, community dynamics, and cultural nuances. As such, they may have crucial information concerning the preferences, needs, and challenges facing the affected community (Van Brabant & Patel, 2017; Partos, 2022). If this knowledge is not fully shared or understood by the IDO, this can lead to a misalignment of priorities, strategies, and initiatives hence hinder the effectiveness of the collaboration.

Resource disparities are a key factor as well. Compared to LNGOs, IDOs often have greater networks, resources, and access to global information. This information asymmetry often influences the decision-making capabilities and bargaining power of LNGOs (Burger & Seabe, 2013). The LNGOs have to rely on their international counterparts for resources but may still lack the required information to wholly understand the potential risks or implications related to the partnership (Gray et al., 2006). Information asymmetry also impacts accountability and transparency. IDOs often have rigorous evaluation and reporting mechanisms because of their access to expertise and resources. Nonetheless, this information may not be easily accessible to LNGOs or the targeted communities because of information asymmetry (Bergh et al., 2019). In such instances, it becomes difficult to ensure transparency and accountability.

Information asymmetry issues emerge from and recreate power imbalances with the party with superior information having greater decision-making authority and control of, for example, the project (Lam, 2023). IDOs with greater financial resources and networks may dictate terms of engagement, resource allocation, and project design. In such a case, the LNGO may face challenges asserting their priorities and maintaining autonomy when making decisions (Ebrahim, 2003: Auronen, 2003). Understanding information asymmetry is crucial in identifying and addressing challenges associated with power imbalances, resource disparities, and effective use of expertise and knowledge. It also helps promote transparency and accountability leading to impactful and equitable collaborations between IDO and LNGOs.

## 2.2 Influence of Aid Localization on Donor-Recipient Relational Issues in IDO-LNGO Partnerships

The World Humanitarian Summit in May 2016 resulted in the 'Grand Bargain', a voluntary commitment of international donor agencies and major state donors. To give "more funding and support tools for local and national responders" was one of the main commitments and "localization" wass the term used to describe this process (Jideofor, 2021). The Grand Bargain 2.0, introduced in 2021, went even farther and made the commitment to give greater support to local responders' leadership, effectiveness, and capacity as well as their involvement in delivering development aid. As part of the Grand Bargain's commitments, localization is the one which can shift the power to local actors in aid (Inter-Agency Standing Committee, 2021). Localization of aid is meant to address several issues including the problem of excessive centralisation in the international aid system. The international aid system is increasingly centralised and remote when it comes to making important strategic, financial, and operational decisions (Van Brabant & Patel, 2017). The solution proposed by localization is to bring the strategic decision-making closer to local actors and the crisis zone.

Another issue that localization attempts to address is the oligopoly of primary recipients. Only a small number of UN organizations, INGOs, and the Red Cross & Red Crescent Movement are the primary recipients of institutional aid funding creating an oligopoly (Parker, 2016). Van Brabant & Patel (2017) noted that these few institutions have exceptional power over global development aid, which constricts the room for local-actor leadership and may reduce the desire for reform and the potential for creativity. Therefore, localization suggests that the answer is to increase the variety of primary recipients, particularly by providing more direct support to local actors (Erdilmen & Sosthenes, 2020). Localization also seeks to address the issue of the politically unsustainable nature of the international aid system. The structural dominance of the international aid business is frequently seen as being unduly paternalistic, which may not be acceptable to national governments and civil groups in the long run (Van Brabant & Patel, 2017). Localization, on the other hand, will maintain the credibility of globally backed crisis planning and response, even in a changing global order.

Seven years later, according to Jideofor (2021), some of the Grand Bargain's localization-related aims have been attained, but more needs to be done. The research brief by Jideofor (2021) set forward four notions for advancing the localization cause. One of these notions is changing leadership and retiring regressive terminologies. Under this notion,

it is noted that the possibilities that national and local players will harness their agency to lead and advance the collective outcomes of the development aid are remote if national and local actors still need to be welcomed into processes and activities for development aid (Robillard et al., 2020: Jideofor, 2021). While IDOs continue to think about the localization process in terms that indicate that national and local players are excluded, the transition of leadership to the national and local levels will remain unfinished (Khan & Kontinen, 2022). Harris & Tuladhar (2019) proposed that when an IDO shifts power to local actors it observes the work of national and local performers and takes note. Beyond the improvements accomplished in the localization of aid, important concerns about how the localization process should be conducted still need to be answered. For example, the question of whether partnerships between IDOs and LNGOs attain the shifting of powers to local actors and whether certain donor-recipient issues harm localization. To answer these questions, studies need to delve deeply and critically into the nature of partnerships between an IDOs and LNGOs. In this regard, the element of the quality of partnership between an IDO and a LNGO, contained within various localization frameworks, becomes imperative.

# 2.2.1 The Influence of Equitable and Complementary Partnerships on Donor-Recipient Issues

The two key factors that localization frameworks suggest as solutions to issues affecting the partnerships between donors and recipients are complementarity and equity. Complementarity in IDO-LNGO partnerships is defined as the situation where a partner contributes the capabilities and resources needed by the other partner. The other partner contributes complementary resources (de Groote et al. 2023). Complementarity is also the combination of strengths that each organization can bring in a complementary manner that ensures the ability of each organisation as well as the partnership as a whole, to respond to the needs of those who have been affected (British Red Cross, 2018). In the best complementarity situations, both partners make contributions with each partner providing expertise and resources required by the other organization. Equity in a partnership between IDOs and local actors refers to a relationship in which there is respect between the organizations involved, power and size notwithstanding (Lane, 2010). In a partnership where there is equity, the organizations respect each other's independence, obligations, and mandates and appreciate each other's commitments and constraints.

National and local actors have expressed dissatisfaction with their instrumentalization and the prevalent, frequently imposed subcontracting dynamic by IDOs. They recognize the value of these organizations but strive for more sincere and fair collaborations, wanting to move from being passive 'implementers' to active 'decision-making' partners (Elbers & Arts, 2011: Gent et al., 2015: Global Mentoring Initiative, 2023). The Global Mentoring Initiative (GMI) framework proposes that transparency, good communication, shared accountability, and regular evaluations of the quality of the collaborative framework are necessary components for this change. The degree to which IDO and LNGO partnerships actually reflect the idea of a partnership or tend to put one party's interests ahead of the other is another crucial consideration (Global Mentoring Initiative Framework, 2023). Equally important is how the collaboration ends, namely, if it does so in a polite and responsible manner. These elements greatly influence the collaboration's overall character and define its effectiveness and genuineness.

A major problem in the partnerships between IDOs and LNGOs is risk perception. The IDOs frequently characterize all local respondents as a risk of corruption and fraud, prejudiced against certain political or social groups, and failing to meet international standards. The Global Mentoring Initiative Framework (2023) noted that few recognize the dangers that a local responder faces when working closely with and becoming financially dependent on an international actor. Risk also exists in various dimensions. In terms of funding, there is a risk of fraud and corruption, but there is also a risk that local responders may not be able to pay their true expenses and will therefore operate at a loss. Additionally, there is always a chance of wasting funds by making unnecessary expenses. In terms of the quality of the relationship, at the opposite end of the spectrum of course stands the notion of trust (Parto, 2022). Localization frameworks suggest that the level of trust between local responders and IDOs is expected to rise when complementarity and equality are employed in their partnerships.

To attain solutions to the discussed donor-recipient issues targeted by localization, several organizations which are party to the Grand Bargain agreement have developed various frameworks. An important area targeted by these frameworks is the quality of partnerships between the international and local actors. In this area, localization insists on different impact indicators that signify complementarity and equity in partnerships between IDOs and LNGOs Van Brabant & Patel, 2018; Humanitarian Advisory Group, 2019). According to the study of Dixon et al. (2016), local actors in Syria played a crucial role in facilitating access for aid inside Syrian borders, particularly in areas that were not controlled by the regime. More importantly, this study discovered that local actors offer more than just access. Syrian aid organizations had enormous potential for more suitable, long-lasting, and

efficient aid, supporting localization arguments. The authors, however, concluded that it is crucial to note that the degree to which this potential is realized, significantly depends on relationship practices of international donor organizations (Dixon et al., 2016). Hence, the relationship between IDOs and LNGOs becomes a crucial contribution to localization. To this end, various localization frameworks following the Grand Bargain agreement contain indicators for the element of relationship quality even though differently framed. The Global Mentoring Initiative developed a seven-dimension framework for localization which draws on the "Grand Bargain commitment to localization".

#### The GlobalMonitoring Initiative Framework (GMI)

The GMI is a non-profit organization that is involved in the provision of guidance and business skills to university students via online mentorship. GMI originated from the Rockefeller Foundation's Digital Jobs Initiative and its purposes was to make students ready for their first career job through training. The organization developed a localisation framework that is commonly referred to in localisation initiatives. The localization framework by The GMI (2023) suggests that it is the responsibility of the donor organization to ensure that local players profit from a fair relationship, regardless of whether support is provided directly or is availed through pooled money, networks, or another partner.

This framework emphasizes the relationship quality between IDOs and LNGOs. The framework's dimension of 'relationship quality' suggests several indicators, as revealed in Figure 1 below.

# INDICATORS FOR EQUITABLE AND COMPLEMENTARY PARTNERHIPS IN THE LOCALIZATION FRAMEWORK

- Choosing each other.
- Smart trust: intentional trust-building
- Decision-making', not 'implementing' partner (joint problem-analysis, intervention design; learning evaluation)
- Compensating for structural power inequalities
- Respectful tone and content of communications
- Reciprocal transparency and accountability (reflected in contracts)
- Risk-sharing
- Budget transparency and fair sharing of resources
- Responsible ending of collaboration

## Figure 1 : Relationship quality dimension of the Global Mentoring Initiative's seven dimensions framework for localization Source: Global Mentoring Initiative (2023)

I employ the Global Mentoring Initiative's indicators for the dimension of equitable and complementary partnership in analyzing the extent to which the GYNED-SL and UNDP partnership addressed donor-recipient issues using equitable and complementary measures. My choice is influenced by the framework's inclusion of indicators that directly relate to donor-recipient problems. I also selected the framework because of its emergence of the internationally acknowledged and widely applied Grand Bargain principles of localization which would enable replication of this study in other contexts as well as the comparison of its findings with other analyses of localization efforts.

#### 2.3 Conclusion

Partnerships between donors and recipients are affected by donor-recipient problems that hinder the IDO-LNGO Partnerships. Although these challenges exist, the input from the local community cannot be done away with. Delegation of tasks by the donor to the recipient, and information asymmetry may adversely affect the IDO-LNGO partnership. The GMI framework has been suggested in this study as a possible solution to the donorrecipient issues targeted by localization. This framework is appropriate for analysing the GYNED-SL and UNDP partnership especially on matters of equity and complementarity, hence it has been applied in this study.

## Chapter 3 : Methodology and Methods

### **3.1 Research Approach**

Cresswell & Garrett (2008: 332) defined a research approach as a procedure chosen by the investigator to gather, analyze, and interpret data relating to the phenomenon under study. There are three main research approaches, namely approaches using quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods. The current study adopted a mixed methods approach which entails using both quantitative and qualitative methods (Cresswell, 2012). On their own, quantitative and qualitative research methods address different questions with each method having its own inherent strengths and weaknesses (Mason, 2006). The use of a mixed methods approaches. As Fetters & Freshwater (2015) explained, the use of both quantitative and qualitative data helps validate, clarify, and elaborate the findings from each method. Data can be analyzed separately, and the findings compared to see if they complement or counter each other. This creates a solid foundation for drawing comprehensive findings and conclusions. Integration of qualitative and quantitative approaches helps achieve a more complete and synergistic use of data leading to a better understanding of the phenomenon under investigation.

#### 3.2 Case Study Design

This study is based on a case study design focusing on the Global Youth Network for Empowerment & Development and UNDP, in Sierra Leone, and investigates issues that arise from the partnership between GYNED-SL and UNDP. An appropriate research design for this phenomenon allows the researcher to investigate it in its natural setting. Yin (2014) explained that case study research is preferred when: the researcher has no control over behavioral events; the research questions are "why" and "how"; and if the focus is on a contemporary or ongoing phenomenon. In this study, the partnership between GYNED-SL and UNDP is one that is ongoing, and the researcher has no control over the behavior of the different individuals involved in the partnership.

Furthermore, the choice of a case study is also appropriate because case studies have the advantage of enabling the research to focus on a particular phenomenon and segment of the

population instead of taking a general approach (Baxter & Jack, 2008). It also considers the relationship between context, phenomena, and people and affords researchers the flexibility of collecting data via different means. As suggested by Takahashi & Araujo (2020), through the case study method, it will be possible to capture the context and lived reality of respondents. From the description, it is clear that the case study research has inherent advantages over other methodologies. For one, it enabled the researcher to investigate the relationship between people, context, and phenomena. Here, the researcher was able to study the phenomenon of donor-recipient relationships using the case of GYNED-SL and UNDP, in the context of Sierra Leone. A case study approach also enabled the researcher to capture the context and lived reality of participants involved in the phenomenon and this has an enhanced ability to explore deeper causes of phenomena.

#### 3.3 Sample Selection

Moser & Korstjens (2018) defined sampling as a process in research where a pre-set number of observations are taken from a wider group. A researcher needs to keenly decide on how to select participants or respondents that accurately represent the population being investigated in order to obtain valid findings in the study. The two main types of sampling are probability and non-probability sampling. Probability sampling involves random selection of respondents while non-probability sampling involves non-random selection based on various criteria such as availability and convenience (Kandola et al., 2014). For this study, critical case sampling is used and specifically purposive sampling. Also known as judgment sampling, critical case sampling entails the investigator actively searching for people that are most suitable and useful in answering the research questions (Tongco, 2017). Harrris et al. (2009) mentioned that this sampling technique is usually used in situations where the investigator wants to get comprehensive information on the phenomenon under investigation from a group of people who understand it better based on personal experience.

However, the use of critical case sampling and specifically purposive sampling in this study may have introduced researcher bias. Based on this sampling approach, the research assistant actively searched for people that are most suitable and useful in answering the research questions. Bias may also have been caused by the fact that the research assistant is actively involved in the work of GYNED-SL. Researcher bias may have reduced the quality of data collected, analysis and its generalizability. To reduce researcher bias, the researcher employed another method called random sampling for selecting the interviewees which gave everyone in the population a chance to be selected to take part in the study.

Effective purposive sampling has coherent criteria for inclusion and exclusion. In this study, the participants were selected from the two major organizations involved in the project: Global Youth Network for Empowerment & Development-Sierra Leone (GYNED-SL) and UNDP. Five staff involved in the implementation of the project were selected from GYNED-SL and five others from UNDP. They were approached by the research assistant who worked at GYNED-SL and acted as the gatekeeper. He made the initial contact, explained to the potential respondents what this study was about and what was its purpose, and then requested their voluntary participation in the study. A snowballing technique was used to get to the targeted number as some additional staff members agreed to participate after being informed by those who had already participated in this study. In total 16 interviews were conducted. Eight employees of GYNED-SL and eight employees of GYNED-SL were involved in the "Low-Value Grant to Provide Psychosocial Services & Life Skills to 300 Freetown Urban Youth Slum Dwellers" project.

### 3.4 Data Collection

This study entailed the collection of primary data directly from the selected participants. Primary data allows the researcher to collect data that is appropriate for answering the study's research questions and achieving its objectives. Primary research also provides credible, accurate, and up-to-date data (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019) which will improve the quality and value of the study. The first step in collecting data involved the research assistant contacting the selected participants, explaining to them the purpose and use of this research study and providing them with consent forms to sign. The research assistant then obtained their contacts and passed them on to the researcher after having made proper introductions between the researcher and the respondents.

The researcher then planned with each respondent to schedule a time for conducting the interviews online. Data collection was done using semi-structured interviews. As explained by Lunenburg & Irby (2008), interviews are used to collect data through exchange of information, and specifically via a series of questions (from the researcher) and responses (from the participants). A semi-structured interview entails asking questions that fall under a pre-determined theme relating to the topic under investigation. In this study, the interviews had questions covering the experiences of working together among members of GYNED-SL and UNDP.

Semi-structured interviews are guided by a semi-structured guide and the questions to be answered are open-ended (**appendix 1**), allowing for more peripheral discussions that are exhaustive in nature (Majid et al., 2017). The interviews were done online via Zoom and were recorded (with explicit permission from the interviewees) for later transcription and analysis. Zoom-based interviews were difficult to conduct due to technological hitches. For example, some words were lost and the respondents had to be asked to repeat themselves so that the interviewer can get the point. However, the convinience of not travelling to meet the respondents physically saved time, energy and resources for the researcher. Interviewing is a qualitative method of data collection that aligns with the research design and yields large quantities of data that can answer the research questions in an exhaustive manner (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019).

### 3.5 Research Ethics

The researcher submitted a formal application to the institution prior to collecting data. Since human participants are involved, they were protected from psychological and physical harm and the researcher adhered to recommended research ethics. The participants could be harmed incase they gave information that could expose them to victimization by ther respective employers. This could happen if they let out confidential information and speak about their employers in the wrong way. If such information was made public so their their seniors lean about it, probably the participants coul be dismissed fromwork orbe penalised ina different way leading to psychological harm.

For one, the participants were also informed of their rights, including to confidentiality, privacy, and withdrawal from the study at will (Hürlimann, 2019). According to Fouka & Mantzorou (2011), a researcher must obtain informed consent from would-be participants prior to them being recruited to participate in the study. The participants were requested to give consent for taking part in the study and by filling out a consent form which was delivered with an information sheet containing relevant information including: the purpose of the study, their expected role, the process, procedures, and the type of questions to be asked (Dilmi, 2012). They were also told about the protection due to them as participants.

Another ethical consideration for the study related to confidentiality and anonymity in the data collection phase. In order to protect participants' personal information and to encourage

the participants provided accurate information, the researcher assured them that the data collected could not be traced to them. One way of ensuring this was by using pseudonyms and not real names when drafting the study. This is a way of anonymization whereby no information can be traced back to a specific respondent. Moreover, the researcher also avoided collecting personal identifying information such as physical addresses, social security numbers, passport numbers, financial account information, or email addresses as suggested by Hürlimann (2019). In order to ensure confidentiality, the information collected was stored in a password-protected laptop with no access by unauthorized people.

#### 3.6 Data Analysis

The data analysis process was accomplished through the thematic analysis method. The relevance and appropriateness of thematic analysis are premised on several reasons. Braun & Clarke (2006) suggested that thematic analysis provides theoretical freedom and flexibility that researchers can adjust to fit the needs of their research and to obtain comprehensive and intricate data. As stated by Maguire & Delahunt (2017), thematic analysis allows the researcher to consider and examine the views of various respondents, understand the differences and similarities, and generate unexpected outcomes. The analysis followed the six-step process suggested by Braun & Clarke (2006). The first step involved reading the transcribed data several times to gain a deeper familiarity with the information provided by the respondents. The second step involved textual analysis and specifically noting and annotating comments on the text. The notes included remarks about feelings and non-verbal communication observed during the online interviews. Moving to the third step, the process involved developing emergent themes by grouping comments. There is also a comparison of emerging connections and patterns through a critical examination of the transcribed data. Here, the researcher combined the original script with the interpretations from the analysis. Comparing and contrasting emergent themes required careful engagement with the transcript and the notes made by the researcher to ensure the important themes were captured. In the fourth step, the researcher searched for a connection between emergent themes with the aim of discovering connections that were not exposed in the previous step. I then listed the different themes and clustered related ones. From this, new lists were derived and reevaluated as emergent themes. This step was repeated until the themes appeared clear and covered the findings in a meaningful way. The fifth step involved repeating the entire analytical steps listed above for each interview while acknowledging the undeniable emerging preconceptions. The sixth and last step involved looking for patterns across cases. I looked at individual cases noting the connections and interrelationships as well as inconsistencies. This step was repeated to ensure reliable connections were made before settling on the final themes.

#### 3.7 Limitations of the study

Since this is a qualitative study, a small sample of only 24 people was used for data collection. The choice of such a small sample became a limiting factor because it may not be possible to generalize the study findings to the broader population. These findings may be true for the partnership between UNDP and GYNED-SL but extrapolating them to all the donor-recipient partnerships in Sierra Leone can result in a lack of credibility and distortion. It is, therefore, important to be cautious when generalizing these findings to the larger population. Data was collected using semi-structured interviews which led to the collection of overwhelming quantities of data. Due to resources scarcity, it was impossible to hire a more skilled and experienced interviewer to conduct the interviews and this became a limitation in the study since data quality was compromised by a lack of experience. The collection of large volumes of data also necessitated the use of a lot of time and other resources to analyze it. This also was a limitation because the study suffered from scarcity of resources and time was also limited.

#### 3.8 Conclusion

This study adopted a mixed methods approach where both quantitative and qualitative methods were applied. The research is designed as case study whose main focus is on the Global Youth Network for Empowerment & Development and UNDP, in Sierra Leone, and it examines issues that emerge from the partnership between GYNED-SL and UNDP. Purposive sampling was used to select the sample and its appropriateness is based on the fact that the researcher was able to hand pick the people with the best knowledge about the challenges faced by UNDP and GYNED-SL in their partnership. Data was collected through primary methods, specifically semi-structured interviews conducted via the zoom platform. The researcher adhered to all the research ethics requirements such as submitting a formal application to the institution before collecting data, obtaining informed consent, and

observing confidentiality and anonymity in the data collection phase. The data was analysed using thematic analysis method.

## **Chapter 4 : Findings and Discussions**

#### 4.1 Introduction to the Chapter

In this chapter, the findings of the study are analyzed and discussed. The findings are organized based on themes derived from the research questions. The chapter begins by analyzing the donor-recipient challenges arising in the context of the partnership between GYNED-SL and UNDP and how GYNED-SL and UNDP actors perceive ensuring equity and complementarity as a solution to donor-recipient issues in their partnership. It will also discuss the measures taken by GYNED-SL and UNDP to ensure an equitable and complementary partnership in addressing donor-recipient challenges. Next, it will focus on how complementarity and equity measures enacted by GYNED-SL and UNDP address the donor-recipient challenges. Finally, it will delve into the challenges faced by GYNED-SL and UNDP when implementing measures to ensure complementarity and equity. The findings wil be discussed in light of the GMI framework of localisation which emphasizes the need for a fair relationship between the donor and the recipient. This localization framework proposes that the donors should ensure that they maintainan a fair relationship with the recipient in a manner that the recipients get the expected benefit from the partnership. Afer the capacty of the recipient has been improved and deemed to ne enough the relationhip must be based on the same principles as those applied when partnering with an international organization. The GMI framework suggests that instead of the donor, the recipient should control needs assessment, program design, planning of the budget, and other features of the program cycle.

## 4.2 Donor-recipient Relationship Challenges in the GYNED-UNDP Partnership

In this section, the challenges affecting the partnership between donors and recipients are analyzed and discussed. The respondents identified a number of factors that they thought were the donor-recipient challenges affecting the GYNED-SL and UNDP partnership. They listed issues related to the the burden of accountability, lack of mutual understanding, and dependence on UNDP as the donor to provide the required resources.

#### Burden of Accountability

The challenge of shouldering a heavy burden of accountability was cited as a key issue that affected the UNDP-GYNED-SL partnership. When explaining the issue of the burden of accountability, the respondents stated that UNDP requires its partners to engage in rigorous reporting and be accountable. This became a challenge because GYNED-SL may not be in a position to do that and they are not used to such rigorous accountability demands. According to one GYNED-SL project officer "UNDP requires extensive reporting and accountability mechanisms to ensure that funds are used effectively and transparently. These requirements can sometimes be burdensome for GYNED and may not always align with organizational capacities" (GYNED- SL Respondent 1).

Since UNDP insists on extensive reporting and accountability, GYNED-SL must maintain the required levels of accountability otherwisethe partnership will be ruined. The strictness of UNDP on accountability had the capacity to cause other trust and resourcerelated issues that may have affected the smooth implementation of the project. The burden of accountability and reporting was discussed as having a negative impact on resource allocation, decision-making, and project implementation.

Accoring to GYNED- SL Respondent 2: "UNDP's reporting and accountability requirements may be extensive, involving detailed financial reporting and performance indicators. The local NGO, with limited administrative capacity, may struggle to meet these requirements. The burden of reporting and accountability can divert resources and attention away from project implementation. Therefore, GYNED may need to allocate more staff, time, and resources to meet these requirements, and that may potentially affect the quality and efficiency of project activities.

The findings about the burden of accounting and reporting being a donor-recipient challenge is discussed in the GMI Framework (2023) as an important indicator of complementarity and equity. This implies that although it was a challenge for GYNED-SL, it was an important requirement for the partnership to survive and succeed so that the project can be effectively implemented. The GMI Framework (2023) considers risk perception to be a key problem in the partnerships between IDOs and LNGOs because IDOs normally view all local actors as a risk of corruption and fraud, that do not meet international standards. This includes the globally accepted standards for accountability and reporting in development aid projects. The GMI framework also recommends that transparency, good

communication, and shared accountability should be practiced in the donor-recipient partnership.

The findings of this study echo the findings of past studies such as Bergh et al., (2019) who argue that information asymmetry affects accountability and transparency since IDOs tend to have painstaking evaluation and reporting mechanisms because they have access to expertise and resources. LNGOs do not have access to such information which is needed for accountability and reporting and that can be a source of misunderstanding in the partnership.

#### Lack of Mutual Understanding

The interview responses indicated that there was a serious challenge of UNDP and GYNED-SL not understanding each other in many things. The respondents explained that the lack of mutual understanding became a contributing factor to many other challenges that the partnership faced.

According to GYNED-SL Respondent 6 "Both UNDP and GYNED-SL seemed to be pulling in different directions in terms of the preferences and priorities they had in the project. For example, GYNED-SL wanted many more people to benefit from the project but UNDP did not want the numbers increased beyond a certain limit". UNDP Respondent 4 shared that "[t]he partnership faced obstacles because we could not agree on certain pertinent matters. That became a major point of concern for us because we really wanted the affected people to benefit from the project" (UNDP Respondent 4).

In these quotes, the respondents provide sufficient evidence that mutual understanding was elusive in the partnership and that may have been the cause of the many setbacks that the project had to deal with. If the partners understood each other, that understanding could have helped to prevent them from landing into more trouble with issues such as finances, accountability, and information asymmetry.

It was not expected that UNDP and GYNED-SL could have serious issues with understanding each other. This was strange because initially, they had chosen each other as partners to undertake the project together and the terms of the partnership should have been made clear at the start before they engaged on the project. Therefore, it was a unique finding that the two partners could encounter serious obstacles in understanding each other.

The issue of the lack of mutual understanding between donors and recipients undertaking development aid projects was not anticipated in the GMI framework either. Although the framework addresses the need for other factors such as trust, respectful tone, and content of communications and choosing each other which are necessary for mutual understanding, it falls short of discussing mutual understanding as an independent factor that is integral to the achievement of equity and complementarity.

However, the findings do confirm what was discovered in various past studies. For example, Aerni (2006) found that issues exist between IDOs and their agents and these issues arise from the conflict of interests between these two groups. Conflict of interest implies a situation where each partner puts forward matters that are of lesser interest to the other partner. As in the case of UNDP and GYNED-SL the other partner may also totally have no interest in the issues raised by the first partner. This study also echoes the findings of Panda & Leepsa (2017) who stated that the agent makes decisions and acts on behalf of the donor, and this may cause conflicts and problems that can affect their partnership

#### Reliance on UNDP for Resources

The issue of GYNED-SL relying on donors was also discussed as a principal challenge because they do not have an opportunity to make decisions. According to UNDP Respondent 4: since GYNED-SL depends on donors, it makes them have limited say in the project discussion". Depending on donors is a challenge that affected the partnership because UNDP had its conditions of engagement which the GYNED-SL might not have been comfortable with. Failure to meet these conditions would mean that resources may not be released as expected by GYNED-SL.

The respondents also stated that reliance on the donor and the limited say that GYNED-SL had as a result affected decision-making, resource allocation, and project implementation within the partnership. They discussed the lack of decision-making opportunities as one of the ways in which depending on UNDP for resources affected the partnership. According to a junior UNDP staff member, "Being that GYNED-SL depends on donors, they cannot get the chance to contribute strongly in decision-making that can influence resource allocation" (UNDP Respondent 2).

In a congruent past study, Burger & Seabe (2013) found resource disparities to be a major challenge because compared to LNGOs, IDOs normally have better networks, resources, and access to global information and this information asymmetry often affects the decision-making capabilities and bargaining power of LNGOs. Another consistent study by Gray et al., (2006) also states that although the LNGOs depend on their international

counterparts to provide resources, they can still lack the necessary information to fully understand the potential risks or implications of the partnership, and information asymmetry also affects accountability and transparency.

The similarities between the findings of this study in this section and past studies imply that partnerships between IDOs and LNGOs are intricate and that even after many years of such engagements, organizations have not found permanent solutions to the challenges affecting IDO and Local NGO partnerships.

The results of the study in this section provide more elaborate knowledge about the dynamics of donor-recipient partnerships. They provide a better understanding of the challenges that LNGOs face in their partnerships with IDOs, and how best these challenges can be solved. From these findings, GYNED-SL and UNDP can understand how to handle the issues affecting them in future similar partnerships. Using Other LNGOs and IDOs will also have an opportunity to understand how to solve challenges arising in their partnerships.

The discovery that the partnership between UNDP and GYNE-SL was rocked by many challenges related to the partnership supports the expectations held before. It was expected that the GYNED-SL and UNDP partnership will have challenges because in practice there is no perfect relationship or partnership either between individuals or organizations that can be said to be devoid of challenges.

## 4.3 Perception of the Influence of Equitable and Complementary Partnership Indicators on Donor-Recipient Problems

The findings in this part discuss how equitability and complementarity could be used to solve donor-recipient problems. When asked how they perceive the concepts of equity and complementarity as potential solutions to the donor-recipient challenges within the GYNED-SL and UNDP partnership, most of the respondents (10 out of 16) were of the view that these two principles have the potential to solve most of the challenges. GYNED-SL Respondent 5 perceived "the concepts to be very useful because they foster openness and support for the partners in the relationship one to the other". According to this quote, this respondent was very optimistic that equitability and complementarity can deal with the challenges faced by UNDP and GYNED-SL

According to the responses more broadly, complementarity and equitability are necessary for fostering understanding between the partners so that there is no suspicion and hidden secrets that can fuel conflicts. Nevertheless, some respondents cautioned that these principles must be appropriately and fully implemented for them to have good outcomes. According to UNDP Respondent 2: "If this concept is well implemented and GYNED-SL is given a chance to maximize their own idea equally as UNDP, then there will be a positive outcome". GYNED-SL Respondent 3 strongly believed "that if the principles of equity and complementarity are fully applied, GYNED-SL and UNDP will have a strong and long-standing partnership and the impact will be huge in the society".

Lack of full implementation of complementarity and equity would lead to a situation where both organizations still feel that the other partner is not treating them right and that would cause the partnership to collapse or endure but fail to have any major impact on society. This study also found that equity and complementarity as proposed by localization frameworks could help address the potential misalignment of interests and information between GYNED-SL and UNDP. Most of the respondents (n=11) said that equity and complementarity make it possible for information about the relationship to flow smoothly. They consider equity and complementarity to be ingredients for improved communication because the partners will be engaging from a level of equality and not just the donor and the recipient. As GYNED- SL Respondent 3 shared: "When equity and complementarity exist in a partnership relationship information will always flow well and interest will also be well and genuinely communicated therefore if GYNED-SL and UNDP respect equity and complementarity that will help to avoid misalignment of interest and information".

The interview responses also allude to the significance of equity and complementarity in other areas, such as resource allocation. They claimed that allocating resources with an understanding of the weaknesses and strengths of the other partner is very helpful. For instance, GYNED-SL Respondent 2 stated that: "In Capacity Building, the UNDP should support the capacity building of GYNED to bridge capacity gaps. This helps ensure that the GYNED can meet UNDP's requirements and expectations, promoting equity in resource distribution and project management. And also equitable distribution of resources should be guided by an understanding of how each partner's strengths complement the other's. This means allocating resources not just equally but in a manner that maximizes the impact of each partner's contributions".

However, some of the respondents were of the opinion that complementarity and accountability do not provide solutions for the challenges facing the GYNED-SL and UNDP partnership. "Since the concept of equitability does not exist as a result of the power of the donor partner, this concept does not serve as potential solutions" (UNDP Respondent 1).

"Equitability and complementarity can be on paper and in theory but when it comes to practicing them, the donor who has more power always feels that the LNGO is a lesser partner who only needs to agree with the decisions made by the donor" (GYNED-SL Respondent 5).

As indicated in the quotes above, these respondents felt that UNDP always has power and occupies a superior position in the partnership by virtue of being the provider of the resources. Therefore, according to them, it cannot be possible for GYNED-SL to bargain for equal treatment from UNDP. The implication is that equity and complementarity were impractical in the UNDP-GYNED-SL partnership.

Although there were a few dissenting voices, throughout the findings, there was an agreement in most of the responses that complementarity and equitability have the potential to solve the challenges identified. Most of the respondents expressed optimism that the challenges they had identified could find their solutions in complementarity and equitability. However, most respondents also emphasized on full implementation of these factors for effective partnerships and this was a pattern that was observed in almost all the responses. This pattern suggests that UNDP and GYNED-SL did not implement equitability and complementarity in full. Otherwise, the challenges affecting the partnership between them would have been solved.

The interview findings confirm what is stated in part of the existing literature. Several past studies e.g. Elbers & Arts, (2011) and Gent et al., (2015) emphasize the need for equitability and complementarity as a solution to the challenges affecting donor-recipient partnerships. Elbers & Arts, (2011) state that national and local aid actors are dissatisfied with their instrumentalization and the predominant, regularly imposed dynamics for subcontracting that IDOs have. A consistent study by Gent et al., (2015) states that local actors know the value of IDOs but strive for more honest and fair collaborations because they want to move from being inactive 'implementers' to active partners involved in decision-making. Furthermore, the GMI (2023) framework supports transparency, good communication, shared accountability, and regular evaluations of the quality of the collaborative framework as important solutions to partnership challenges.

It is also important to note that some inconsistencies with findings also exist in past research. For example, the Global Mentoring Initiative Framework (2023) suggests that equity and complementarity may not solve the challenges of the IDO and LNGO partnership because of risk perception, especially by the IDO. This is so because IDOs often characterize all local NGOs as a risk of corruption and fraud, are prejudiced against some political or social groups, and fail to meet international standards. When IDOs view LNGOs in a negative way, they cannot agree to have equitability and complementarity with them.

The findings on equitability and complementarity support the expectations held before the study. It was expected that complementarity and equitability have the potential to solve the challenges in the partnership between GYNED-SL and UNDP. Since this position has been supported by the majority of the responses, it can be said that the expectations have been met.

## 4.4 Measures to Ensure a Equitable and Complementary Partnership between UNDP and GYNED-SL

The findings in this section are meant to analyze the measures required to achieve complementarity and equity in the UNDP and GYNED-SL partnership. The respondents discussed the measures that can be employed to ensure an equitable and complementary partnership in addressing donor-recipient challenges. Most of them (n=13) agreed that UNDP and GYNED-SL applied the correct measures to achieve equity and complementarity. They mentioned different practices including the use of equity when choosing a partner, trust building and Intentional trust, decision-making, and reciprocal transparency and accountability. The respondents also talked about risk sharing, budget transparency, resource sharing, and responsible ending of collaboration as measures that can be applied to enhance equity and complementarity.

#### Equity when Choosing a Partner

The majority of the respondents identified equity when choosing a partner as one of the factors necessary for ensuring complementarity and equity. When required to explain further, they stated that equity when choosing a partner lays the foundation for the terms of engagement at that time and even for the rest of the life of the partnership.

GYNED-SL Respondent 3 was of the view that "when equity has been applied in the choice of a partner, it can still exist in the partnership and everything that pertains to the

partnership will be approached with a consciousness for equal rights in the partnership between the donor and the recipient".

As stated by UNDP Respondent 3, "there was a signed MOU, and UNDP approved GYNED-SL implementations plan and GYNED-SL implemented the project as planned. They tried to form the partnership on equal terms and I think that is a great way of forming a partnership and demonstrating a mutual commitment to collaborate although there was a fiscal organization between them".

As stated by GYNED-SL Respondent 5: "The choice of a partner based on equity is a good strategy for UNDP and that is how they should have chosen GYNED-SL".

Furthermore, UNDP Respondent 2 believes that "choosing a partner should be done on equal terms so that none of them feels that they are being despised or looked down upon".

According to the above responses, the respondents believe that when the choice of a partner is founded on equity then the partnership will easily have equity and complementarity at every stage going forward. The idea of equity when making the choice of a partner can also be found in the GMI framework which also supports equity when choosing a partner.

Past studies also support equity in the choice of partners. One such study is Cuevas-Rodriguez et al. (2012) who stated that the quality of relationship between the donor and the recipient must be founded on equality. In another study that supports the findings, Van Brabant & Patel (2018) and the Humanitarian Advisory Group (2019) suggest that localization emphasize a number of impact indicators that imply complementarity and equity in partnerships between international donor organizations and local actors. Therefore, donors must uphold equity when they are choosing local partners because that forms the basis for future equitable actions. On such a foundation, it is also easier to build and nurture trust.

#### Trust Building and Intentional Trust

Another measure suggested by the respondents was trust building and intentional trust. Trust entails the confidence that one partner has in the other that they can work together, with each partner effectively playing their role so that they both attain their goals without ill intentions on the partner. Most of the respondents (n=12) were of the view that having trust can increase the chances of attaining complementarity and equity: "A partnership cannot have equity or complementarity if there is little or no trust between the partners. One partner must trust the other and vice versa. They must learn to intentionally build trust amongst themselves" (UNDP Respondent 3). Or, "GYNED-SL and UNDP must learn to nurture trust in their partnership because that is what can make them get to a level of equity and complementarity" (GYNED-SL Respondent 1).

In these quotes, trust building and intentional trust are considered to be integral to the UNDP-GYNED-SL relationship as they form the basis upon which trust and complementarity are founded. The significance of trust has been emphasized in the GMI Framework (2023) as well. Intentional trust-building is one of the indicators of relationship quality suggested in the framework. The need for trust in donor-recipient relationships was also underscored in previous studies. One of these studies is Parto (2022) who stated that, in the implementation of complementarity and equity, the level of trust must increase. A study by Aerni (2006) also considers trust to be a powerful ingredient for partnerships between LNGOs and IDOs. In agreement, the GMI Framework (2023) also identifies risk perception as a product of a lack of trust in the agent by the donor. Donors consider agents to be a risk of fraud and corruption and therefore their trust in them is low. In such cases, trust-building and intentional trust are crucial measures necessary for equity and complementarity to be realized. Where trust reigns, organizations can feel free to give equal decion-making opportunities to their partners.

#### Equal Opportunities for Decision-making

Some of the respondents identified fair decision-making among the measures that should be implemented to bring about equity and complementarity. In their responses, the process of making decisions is a key determining factor of whether or not there will be equity and complementarity. This is so because the decisions made are the ones that determine whether the two partners will view each other as equals and work at complementing one another. The findings indicate that poor decision-making can lead to unequal relationships where each partner works at achieving their own goals which may be contradictory to the objectives of the other partner or in some cases may be counterproductive. For instance, according to UNDP Respondent 6: "For me, the type of decisions made is very important because wrong decisions will take the partnership in the wrong direction. No equity or complementarity can be attained when partners continue to make decisions that are not helping to achieve their common goals". GYNED-SL Respondent 5 considers "decision-making to be very crucial because even to be equal and complement one another is a decision that must be made by either partner. Failing to decide together to focus on attaining equity and complementarity means no progress". These two respondents discussed the need for having the right decisions

made because the partners must also make a deliberate intention to implement equity and complementarity.

An important aspect of decision-making is the chances that are available to each partner to make decisions. Often, in donor-recipient partnerships, the donor may make the decisions as the partner contributes to their implementation. However, such an arrangement does not contribute to equity. GYNED-SL Respondent 4 thinks that: "both the IDO and the local actor should get equal chances at the table of decision-making because that is a strong sign that they are enjoying equal rights and opportunities in their partnership" ()

The need for proper decision-making that gives each partner equal chances in achieving equity and complementarity is also one of the indicators of relationship quality suggested by the GMI Framework (2023) which also advocates for joint problem analysis. Decision-making was also mentioned by Van Brabant & Patel, (2017) as necessary in quality relationships between donors and recipients. The authors stated that localization aims to bring strategic decision-making closer to local actors and the crisis zone. Interestingly, no other previous studies discussed decision-making in the pursuit of equity and complementarity. Furthermore, a congruent study by Featherstone, (2019) suggested that, based on several localization frameworks, equitable and complementary partnerships involve such impact indicators as LNGOs getting more power and capacity to make decisions. Equal decision-making is therefore, very crucial in forming an equitable partnership where complementarity is practiced.

#### Transparency in Accounting

The GMI framework lists reciprocal transparency and accountability that are reflected in contracts as being integral to the pursuit of equity in donor-recipient relationships. Transparency also featured in the interview responses since some of the respondents talked about the need for partners to be accountable and transparent: "Transparency in accounting for all funds allocated and agreements on the date of completion are very important" (GYNED-SL Respondent 4). And, UNDP Respondent 7 stated that:"since we expected GYNED-SL to be accountable to us and complement us, we did our best to be accountable to them as well as complement their activities". As these responses indicate, the Respondents emphasized that being accountable is a recipe for complementarity and equity probably because no one feels cheated when the other partner is accountable. Accountability is

important as a sign that one partner is ready to work together with the other partner in meaningful collaboration.

#### **Risk Sharing**

Risk sharing was discussed by the respondents as a crucial measure that could be applied in the UNDP-GYNED-SL partnership if they want to be equal and complement each other. UNDP Respondent 4 put forward the following: "It is very necessary to share risks because that helps to remove the feeling of lacking equality in a partnership. One partner does not feel that the other one is a burden to them" (UNDP Respondent 4). According to GYNED-SL Respondent 4: "My thinking is that just as partners share benefits, sharing risks is also a must because it creates a balance in the partnership that overcomes any bad feelings" (GYNED-SL Respondent 4). These responses imply that, when UNDP and GYNED-SL share risks in their partnership, the feeling that one is being used by the other for selfish interests diminishes. Often partners fail to understand each other when one feels that they are losing as the other one benefits. Risk sharing can help deal with this challenge.

The need for risk sharing has been suggested as one of the dimensions for complementarity and equity in the Global Mentoring Initiative Framework (2023). The need for risk sharing was not discussed in previous studies as necessary for equity and complementarity. This does not diminish the importance of this measure for achieving a quality partnership. However, just as it is shown in the findings in this study, Gent et al. (2015) discussed risk perception as a key problem in the partnerships between IDOs and LNGOs but fell short of identifying risk sharing as a necessary measure for equity and complementarity. Hence, risk sharing can play a huge role in bringing about equity and complementarity.

#### Budget transparency

A majority of the respondents were of the opinion that GYNED-SL and UNDP should lay everyhting bare for each other to see whenever they do their budgets. Since budgeting has to do with resource use and distribution, it is a potentially thorny issue in any partnership. According to UNDP Respondent 8: "Transparency with issues such as budgeting can play a very crucial role in increasing accountability and complementarity. It is necessary for dealing with suspicion". GYNED-SL Respondent 3 argued that "Being transparent with budgeting can make GYNED-SL feel equal to UNDP and have the motivation to complement them even more".

GYNED-SL Respondent 1 said this: "I am of the opinion that the two organizations must stop hiding any information regarding budgets and resource use from each other".

To show how important budget transparency is, the GMI Framework's dimension of 'relationship quality' suggests several indicators and budget transparency and fair sharing of resources is one of them.

#### **Resource Sharing**

Most of the respondents stated that the issue of not sharing resources well can cause many challenges for partners. They suggested equitable resource sharing as one of the measures for ensuring that partners complement each other and they treat each other equitably.

According to GYNED-SL Respondent 2: "Sharing of resources well could have made GYNED-SL to feel equal to UNDP".

While emphasizing the same point, GYNED-SL Respondent 5 had this to say: "Although UNDP provides the resources, we need to make sure that the resources we have are shared equitably so that no partner feels disenfranchised".

Past studies also identified resource sharing as being integral to equity and complementarity in donor-recipient partnerships. Mayer (2007) stated that IDOs have the role of making large infusions of financial and other resources into projects while LNGOs provide the necessary knowledge about the local atmosphere. The two types of knowledge must be shared for the partnership to last and excel in the projects involved.

The findings about the measures used to ensure equity and complementarity support the initial expectations. Initially, I expected that the study would find that complementarity and equitability are nurtured through various practices such as openness, effective communication and close collaboration. Since the responses produced findings that are similar to that, then my expectations have been met.

### 4.5 Implications of the Measures for Ensuring Equity and Complementarity on Donor-recipient Challenges

The interviewees were requested to discuss how the complementarity and equity measures enacted by GYNED-SL and UNDP contributed to addressing the donor-recipient challenges identified earlier. From the responses, a number of implications were listed for ensuring equity and complementarity on donor-recipient challenges. Some of the respondents talked about improved decision-making, enhanced collaboration, and better project outcomes for localisation.

#### Improved Decision-Making

The respondents cited better decision-making as an outcome of the measures implemented towards the attainment of equity and complementarity. They noted that the implementation of those measures had resulted in better decision-making processes for the UNDP-GYNED-SL partnership. Most of the respondents (n=9) praised the efficacy of the complementarity and equity measures enacted by GYNED-SL and UNDP for the good decisions made afterwards.

UNDP Respondent 7 stated thus: "Those measures were very effective and they helped to solve the challenges of low equitability and complementarity through effective decisionmaking. For example, decisions about budgeting were done well based on equitability and complementarity ".

In support of the above response, GYNED-SL Respondent 8 said: "Most of the challenges mentioned such as were related to how our two organizations handle their decision-making issues and therefore, we saw a difference in the way decisions were being made.

Some respondents had negative responses about the effectiveness of the measures used. They expressed this dissatisfaction with these measures because according to them, they did not produce the outcome they had expected.

GYNED-SL employee 7 expressed doubt about the measures in this manner: "I don't believe these measures are as as effective as they appear to be because there have been wrong decisions made even when these measures were being implemented".

Another respondent with a negative experience had this to say:

"I would have loved to see the measures replaced by other workable measures or the strategy of their implementation changed because according to me, the progress we have attained in making decisions is too small and the partnership between UNDP and GYNED-SL continues to be affected" (UNDP employee respondent 8).

It was not outrightly clear from the responses why UNDP and GYNED-SL continued to make wrong decisions and yet they had put in place these measures to improve their performance. Probably, the measures were implemented late or in part, all to the displeasure of some respondents. However, only a few respondents thought that decision-making had not improved.

From the above responses, it is evident that the claim by some respondents that the measures employed were effective for dealing with the donor-recipient challenges creates a contradiction because other respondents did not support their views. Probably, this discrepancy in the findings may have come about because the respondents were drawn from two different organizations which seemed not to be reading from the same script because one was a donor (UNDP) and the other one was a local NGO (GYNED-SL) and these two had differing objectives and goals.

No wonder, some of the respondents (7 out of 16) warned that proper implementation of the measures is the determining factor of whether the measures can work or not. They stated that, since the measures were implemented fairly well, they produced positive outcomes.

For instance, UNDP Respondent 2 was of the opinion that"it is not just implementing the measures for complementarity and equitability that is needed but people must be keen and do it properly".

In line with the above comment, UNDP Respondent 6 said: "personally, I believe the solutions were effective because we consulted with people from the two organizations and ensured that they were being applied in the best ways possible".

When asked to share the instances where the application of equity and complementarity principles of localization resulted in improved decision-making different projects were mentioned:

GYNED-SL Respondent 5 cited "the case of trying to deliver quality for a project done and of value to the target group". To add to this, another example was given by UNDP Respondent 3 who said: "yes, like the Youth Living in slums area project I supervised. It brings a very good outcome" Furthermore, UNDP Respondent 6 also said: "Yes, in the just successful implementation of the bike rider project there was very good collaboration.

As stated, the respondents quoted above participated in different projects and they witnessed better decisions made as a result of the use of equity and complementarity localisation principles. They provide proof that equity and complementarity can improve decision-making.

#### Better Outcomes for Localization

Most respondents were optimistic that the measures used to achieve complementarity and equitability were effective for the localisation of the UNDP and GYNED-SL projects.

According to a junior male UNDP Respondent, "When issues of accountability, transparency, decision-making and resource sharing were addressed, the partnership by UNDP and GYNED-SL took a different turn towards success" (UNDP Respondent 2). In the same line of thought, GYNED-SL Respondent 5 said: "I think the efforts we made to achieve localization became fruitful when we started pursuing equity and complementarity. Before then, we were not going to realize much success"

Most of the respondents agreed that measures such as reciprocal transparency and accountability meant to achieve equity and complementarity improved the localisation attempt. The fact that most of the responses pointed at the effectiveness of these measures is evidence that when employed in a partnership, they can make localisation a success.

The interview findings on the question of the implications of the measures used to ensure equity and complementarity on donor-recipient challenges confirm the findings of previous studies. The GMI Framework (2023) suggests decision-making, trust building, transparency and accountability among other indicators as crucial components for nurturing equitability and complementarity for purposes of effective localisation. In addition, Parto (2022) suggests that measures such as transparency, good communication, and shared accountability are necessary for effective localisation.

Although the above studies paint a positive image, there are also studies with contrary findings. One such study is Milner (2006) who stated that equitable and complementary partnerships between IDOs and LNGOs are not easy to achieve because the dynamics of relationships between them are complicated and multi-layered as a result of donor-recipient problems found between the two partners. Jideofor (2021) also stated that the donor-recipient problems including conflicting goals, information asymmetry agencies issues, and power dynamics are not easily solved during localisation.

#### Increase in Collaboration

From the interview results, this study found an increase in the level of collaboration between UNDP and GYNED-SL. As a result of the implementation of the measures used to realize

equity and complementarity, the responses indicated that the collaboration between UNDP and GYNED-SR registered drastic improvement.

According to a senior UNDP employee, "Trying to attain equity and complementarity in the partnership was a good sign for both of us because it led to better relations. Each side started viewing the other in a better way" (UNDP Respondent 2).

These sentiments were supported by GYNED-SL Respondent 4 who opined: "The efforts made towards equity and complementarity were good and the measures applied made it possible to improve our cooperation because now we started working more closely with coordination".

The quotes above provide proof that indeed, collaboration between UNDP and GYNED-SL improved a lot. This implies that the measures employed were effective for dealing with the negativity that existed between the partners. The increase in collaboration was not discussed in the GMI localisation framework as an indicator for localisation. Past studies discussing better collaboration were also not found in the literature.

The findings about the implications of the measures for ensuring equity and complementarity on donor-recipient challenges contradict my initial expectations. Some respondents indicated a very tough relationship between UNDP and GYNED-SL. Therefore, I expected that since UNDP and GYNED-SL had many serious donor-recipient challenges rocking their partnership, the respondents would suggest that the measures implemented to ensure complementarity and equitability cannot make localisation successful. Instead, the responses in this section indicate that these measures were effective in achieving equitability and complementarity in the partnership.

### 4.6 Challenges Faced and Lessons Learned

A number of challenges were identified in the study as having affected the GYNED-SL and UNDP process of implementing the complementarity and equity measures within the partnership. The respondents also talked about how the challenges were addressed. Most of them (12 out of 16) identified specific challenges associated with certain measures including lack of mutual understanding, financial issues, delayed decision-making, contradictory priorities, and power imbalances.

#### Lack of Mutual Understanding

The difficulty in understanding each other emerged as a serious challenges according to the responses. UNDP and GYNED-SL could not agree on several issues such as the strict

accountability and reporting standards and dependence on UNDP as the donor to provide the required resources. Some of the responses appear in the quotes below.

As stated by one Gyned-SL respondent; "There was always a mutual understanding problem between the two" (GYNED-SL Respondent 4).

From the view of UNDP Respondent 3 "mutual understanding could not be achieved easily because because the two organizations had different priorities, and this necessitated some long negotiations. For example GYNED-SL wanted a larger number of people to benefit but UNDP was very strict on resource use".

The fact that the respondents mentioned this challenge means that GYNED-SL and UNDP had a rough time when trying to negotiate their terms of cooperation. For example, one respondent quoted above said there were problems related to mutual understanding. When two parties cannot understand each other, then their progress would be slowed down leading to more challenges that may require more time to deal with. This was true for UNDP and GYNED-SL.

Another lesson learned from this challenge emerging from the the responses is that proper planning, and having balanced negotiations about the collaboration would suffice.

This was emphasized by GYNED-SL Respondent 3 who stated thus: "For me, the partners should never stop talking and negotiations about the plans are required before any venture".

As indicated in the quotes, the need for mutual understanding between agents and IDOs was also cited as an important lesson taken from the UNDP-GYNED-SL partnership. According to UNDP Respondent 5: "There should always be a mutual understanding between UNDP and GYNED-SL because that can be a solution to the many problems they faced" (UNDP respondent 5).

As a lesson drawn from the lack of mutual understanding between UNDP and GYNED-SL, it was suggested in the responses that there should be conflict resolution mechanisms. This was captured in the quote by GYNED-SL respondent to who said: "In that partnership, there must be mechanisms to solve conflicts. That is necessary to deal with any misunderstanding between the partners".

The interview findings on the question of the challenges faced by GYNED-SL and UNDP when implementing measures to ensure complementarity and equity confirm what was found in previous studies. First, there is a similarity because past studies have recognized the existence of challenges in IDO-LNGO partnerships whenever the partners try to achieve complementarity and equitability. For instance, Auronen (2003) identified information asymmetry as one of the main challenges hindering complementarity and equitability. Information asymmetry when poorly handled could lead to problems such as the absence of mutual understanding. The GMI Framework (2023) also cites respectful tone and content of communications as an indicator of equity and complementarity. This implies that when proper communication is absent, mutual understanding cannot be realized.

#### Financial Challenges

As stated by the respondents, this challenge was associated with resource sharing as a measure used to achieve equity and complementarity: According to GYNED-SL Respondent 2: "There were financial challenges on the side of GYNED-SL and also decision making but they were addressed in a way that both parties were happy". In addition, GYNED-SL Respondent 7 stated thus: "The issue of sharing of resources was not easy because the money comes mainly from UNDP and they have their conditions for giving it out". Finally, GYNED-SL Respondent 2 said: "There were resource imbalances and disparities in funding and resources between GYNED-SL and UNDP power imbalances created problems".

To address the issue of resource imbalance and scarcity of finances, a female respondent stated that UNDP is the one that should provide resources but the two organizations should also work together to obtain more funds: "UNDP provides financial and technical support to GYNED-SL to help bridge resource gaps. But both partners work together to identify and leverage additional funding sources" (UNDP Respondent 2).

Being the donor, UNDP provided the finances. However, the issue may have been on the conditions set by UNDP for partnership and not necessarily the availability of funds. As a lesson, the respondents suggested that UNDP must remain in the position of providing resources as GYNED-SL partners with it. This implies a clear division of roles whereby each partner takes their place and they cooperate where there are shared roles. Past studies identified some challenges which were also mentioned in the interview responses given in this study. According to GMI (2023), a key issue in the partnerships between IDOs and LNGOs is risk perception because the IDOs often classify all local respondents as a risk of exploitation and fraud, and they also fail to meet international standards. A congruent study by Panda & Leepsa (2017) lists adverse selection as a challenge that could lead to financial problems.

#### Delayed Decision-making

Delayed decision-making also featured among the challenges faced by UNDP and GYNED-SL: "The following are the challenges: delay in decision making and the increase in the cost of project implementation" (GYNED-SL Respondent 3). And, according to GYNED-SL Respondent 8: "Trying to look for equity just slowed down the process of making decisions about other issues because the problem of equity and complementarity needed to be dealt with first." . And, "Indeed, trying to attain equity and complementarity created a situation where issues piled up and decisions were made slowly" (UNDP Respondent 5).

In the above responses, the process of making decisions on other aspects of the project seems to have been neglected due to the need for complementarity and equity. Respondents suggested that a key lesson from this challenge was the use of equitable decision-making. This requires every partner to take part in making decisions in an equal manner.

The issue of effective communication was common in most of the responses given and that created a pattern. Most of the respondents suggested clear or better communication as a solution to this challenge listed. They saw clear communication as having the power to iron out any issues in the partnership. This pattern where most of the respondents talk about clear communication as a solution suggests that in their partnership, UNDP and GYNED-SL had serious communication lapses. Otherwise, the interviewees would not have emphasized it.

These findings echo what was found in past studies. A study by Auronen (2003), found that based on the information asymmetry theory one partner has superior or more information than the other party leading to an imbalance that creates distortions or disadvantages in outcomes and decision-making. A consistent study by Bergh et al., (2019) stated that moral hazard whereby the agent possesses more information than the donor can cause problems in decision-making because the information may be harbored for selfinterest.

#### Power Imbalances

There was a mention of the existence of power imbalances in the UNDP and GYNED-SL partnership and it was cited as an impediment when trying to implement equitability and complementarity: "Power imbalances were evident in the partnership because UNDP had more power over decisions made than GYNED-SL" (GYNED-SL Respondent 5). And, "The real issue of not being equal in terms of power stood in the way but for me, it is not supposed to be a hindrance. We just need to understand that power is always with the donor"

(UNDP Respondent 3). And then, "Donors are always powerful and because they give the money, they hold sway in the decisions made in a partnership. I think the issue of equitability between UNDP and GYNED-SL cannot be realized fully" (UNDP employee 4).

The issue of power imbalances did not have a solution in the responses given because the respondents did not give any suggestions on how power on the side of UNDP can be reduced so that part of that power is given to GYNED-SL. Some of the responses indicated that donors always have power over their local partners because they are the ones who provide all or most of the resources for project implementation.

To deal with the issue of power imbalances, ome interview findings suggests the use of clearer communication: "Power can be shared well if partners communicate on how that should be done. Communication is the solution to many of these problems" (GYNED-SL Respondent 2).

This study echoes what some past studies found about power imbalances between donors and recipients. The findings corroborate Khan & Kontinen, (2022) who stated that IDOs exclude local players in partnerships and when they they conside them, they reserve the leadership for themselves. A study by Harris & Tuladhar (2019) proposed that when a donor gives power to local actors it observes the work of national and local performers and takes note and that can improve localisation.

#### Contradictory Priorities

Respondents also cited conflicting priorities as a major impediment to the attainment of complementarity and equity between UNDP and GYNED-SL:

"Challenges or obstacles encountered by GYNED-SL and UNDP are differing priorities and agendas, power imbalance, capacity, and resource constraints" (GYNED-SL Respondent 1). Another GYNED-SL respondent talked about the priorities of each organization. He said: "Each organization had its urgent needs and they could not agree even on trying to implement equity and complementarity" (GYNED-SL Respondent 4).

As a solution for dealing with this challenge, the respondents talked about the readiness of UNDP and GYNED-SL to collaborate appropriately. For example, GYNED-SL Respondent 7 satated thus: "The success of addressing this issue relies on the willingness of both GYNED-SL and UNDP to work together, talk to each other well, respect each other's perspectives, and adapt their approaches as needed". This quote is indicative of the fact that GYNED-SL and UNDP must be ready to implement the solutions in close cooperation or else they fail. Their readiness to cooperate in putting the solutions in place should be the priority because lack of it means they will implement the measures half-heartedly leading to failure.

The findings of this study are consistent with the findings of Gailmard, (2014) and Milner (2006) who stated that challenges arise when the donor fails to follow the propositions of the recipient when there is a conflict of interest between the recipient and the donor and when the local NGO makes decisions that are not in the best interest of the partners.

Another study by Aerni (2006) suggested that the issue of conflict in priorities arises due to a conflict of interests between the IDO and the local actor. In agreement, Panda & Leepsa (2017) stated that the agent can decide and act on behalf of the donor, and this can cause disagreements and issues. Gailmard (2014) listed some major causes of agency issues such as when the donor does contrary to the propositions made by the agent; when there is a conflict of interest between the agent and the donor; and when the agent makes decisions that do not serve the interests of all actors involved.

On the question of the challenges faced when implementing measures to ensure complementarity and equitability, the findings supported the expectation held prior. I expected there to be challenges and the study has revealed the existence of challenges in the attempt by UNDP and GYNED-SL to ensure complementarity. I also expected the challenges to relate to decision making, communication issues, power imbalances, and resource sharing and that has been supported by the findings of this study.

#### 4.7 Conclusion

In this chapter, the study findings were presented and discussed. The study findings indicate that the challenge of the burden of accountability, lack of mutual understanding, and the reliance on UNDP for resources affected the UNDP-GYNED-SL partnership negatively. Equity and complementarity were suggested by most of the respondents as the solution to the above mentioned challenges. To ensure that equity and complementarity are realized, there should be equity when chooosing a partner, trust building, equal opportunities for decision-making between the donor and recipient, transparent accounting and budgeting practices, and the sharing of risks and resources. With the implementation of these measures, the outcome would include better decision-making, improved localisation outcomes, and increased collaboration. However, in the UNDP and GYNED-SL partnership, the puruit of equity and complementarity was rocked by financial challenges, delayed decision making,

power imbalances and conflicting priorities. In order to deal with these challenges and have a smooth implementation of equity and complementarity, communication must be streamlined.

## **Chapter 5 Conclusions and Reflections**

### 5.1 Summary of Findings

This study was done in a manner that all the research questions were answered and the interview responses collected provided enough data to appropriately answer all the research questions. In summary, the study found that the partnership between UNDP and GYNED-SL was affected by partnership challenges such as burden of accountability and dependence on the donor for resources.

The study also revealed that it is possible to solve the donor-recipient relational challenges affecting the partnership using complementarity and equitability because these two can increase understanding and reduce suspicion. However, for favorable outcomes, complementarity and equitability should be implemented fully because failure to do that would lead to incomplete results.

Based on the interview responses, the measures to ensure complementarity and equitability should be founded on the Global Mentoring Initiative's (2023) Framework and they include the use of equity when choosing a partner, trust building and Intentional trust, making the right decisions, and risk sharing, resource sharing, good communication, budgetary transparency, and reciprocated transparency and accountability.

The responses also identified several implications of the measures for ensuring equity and complementarity in donor recipient challenges including improved decision-making, enhanced collaboration, and better project outcomes for localisation. As some suggested that the measures applied were effective, others stated that those measures did not meet the desired goals. The implications include improved decision-making, enhanced collaboration, and better project outcomes for localisation.

This study also unveiled several challenges in pursuing complementarity and equitability by implementing the above-mentioned remedial measures. The lack of mutual understanding, financial issues, delayed decision-making and contradictory priorities featured prominently in the interview responses. The lessons learned included the use of clear communication, equitable decision-making, and conflict resolution mechanisms to deal with the donor-recipient challenges.

## 5.2 Reflections on Key Findings and Implications for Policy, Practice, and Future Research

The analysis of data revealed some key findings that are interesting to consider. Most of these findings were expected and therefore, they supported the expectations I had when collecting and analyzing the data. It was expected that UNDP and GYNED-SL will have challenges and that complementarity and equitability can be used to solve these challenges.

The findings of this study are vital because they add to the existing pool of knowledge about the challenges of donor-recipient partnerships and how these challenges can be countered to realize workable partnerships. The study explicitly elaborates what the specific challenges are, their effects on the partnership and how donors and recipients in localization arrangements can apply them to improve their working relationships. The study also has suggested outcomes whenever various corrective measures are applied appropriately. Using these findings, it will be possible for IDOs to understand how they can enhance their partnerships with their local partners. Local NGOs can also apply the knowledge in this study to design and improve their partnerships with their donors. The knowledge created in this study can provide the basis for policy development especially where donors and recipients are concerned. Such policies may be at the organizational or national level but their aim should be to enhance smoother relations between donors and recipients and eliminate all the donor-recipient challenges discussed on this study.

When analyzing the findings of this study, it was not clear why the partnership between UNDP and GYNED-SL was affected by many serious donor-recipient challenges that even with the implementation of measures that could bring about equitability and complementarity, the challenges were not completely eliminated. In view of this, future studies should investigate the best ways of achieving complementarity and equitability in donor-recipient partnerships.

## Appendices

#### **Appendix 1: Interview Guide for Respondents**

I would like to thank you for choosing to participate in this interview. My name is Mohamed Lamin Jalloh, and I am a master's student at The International Institute of Social Studies of Erasmus University Rotterdam. I am doing this research to complete my master's thesis on the topic of the Dynamics of Donor-Recipient Issues in Partnerships between Local NGOs and International Donor Organizations: A Case Study of GYNED Sierra Leone.

This interview aims to collect insights and perspectives from people such as you who have valuable understanding and knowledge about the topic. Your contribution will greatly add to the depth and understanding of the research topic.

I wish to assure you that every bit of information you give us in this interview will remain confidential and it will be used exclusively for the purpose of my research. I encourage you to share your thoughts agreeably and honestly.

The interview will take about 30 minutes from start to finish, and I have a number of questions to ask you. However, feel free to volunteer any extra information or insights that you consider to be relevant to the topic.

Your know-how and experiences are very important, and I significantly appreciate your involvement to my research. In case you have any questions or concerns in the course of the interview or afterwards, kindly tell me.

#### 1. Demographic Data and general questions

- i. Age.....
- ii. Gender.....
- iii. What was your role and connection with UNDP and the local Sierra Leonian NGO Global Youth Network for Empowerment & Development (GYNED-SL)?
- iv. How familiar are you with Donor-Recipient issues in partnerships between local NGOs and International Donor Organizations?

# 2. What specific aid localisation challenges arise in the context of the partnership between GYNED-SL and UNDP?

Mention any localisation challenges you feel arose in the time UNDP and GYNED-SL were working together.

Why do you think these challenges arose in the partnership?

# 3. How do GYNED-SL and UNDP actors perceive ensuring equity and complementarity as a solution to localisation challenges in their partnership?

What value is given to equity and complementarity in dealing with partnership challenges between GYNED-SL and UNDP?

How effective was equity and complementarity in solving the challenges facing the UNDP and GYNED-SL partnership?

4. What measures were taken by GYNED-SL and UNDP to ensure an equitable and complementary partnership in addressing (or not addressing) donor-recipient relation challenges?

What did UNDP and GYNED-SL do to deal with the issues affecting their partnership?

Were these measures implemented effectively?

What challenges stood in the eay of these measures and their implementation?

5. What challenges did GYNED-SL and UNDP face when implementing measures to ensure complementarity and equity?

Could you mention some of the challenges faced by GYNED-SL and UNDP when pursuing equity and complementarity in their partnership?

Do you think these challenges had any major impact on the partnership?

How could these challenges be solved or reduced?

# 6. What is UNDP doing towards the empowerment of GYNED-SL in its aid localisation efforts?

Has UNDP made any efforts to empower GYNED-SL?

What strategies has UNDP employed towards this goal?

So far, has there been any success in the efforts made by UNDP?

## References

- AbouAssi, K., & Trent, D. L. (2016). NGO accountability from an NGO perspective: Perceptions, strategies, and practices. *Public Administration and Development*, *36*(4), 283-296.
- Aerni, P. (2006, June). The donor-recipient problem in development assistance and its negative impact on local entrepreneurship in Africa: time for new approaches. In African Technology Development Forum Journal (Vol. 3, No. 2, pp. 27-33).
- Al-Abdeh, M., & Patel, C. (2019). 'Localising' humanitarian action: reflections on delivering women's rights-based and feminist services in an ongoing crisis. *Gender & Development*, 27(2), 237-252.
- Altahir, A.A. (2013). Rethinking the relationship of international NGOs and local partners.
  [Online]. Available at https://www.orange.ngo/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/rethinkingtherelationshipofinternationalngoslocalpartne rs.pdf Accessed: June 19, 2023.
- Apollo, A., & Mbah, M. F. (2022) Engaging local youths in humanitarian response is not a matter of if but how. *International Journal of Humanitarian Action* 7, 10 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1186/s41018-022-00118-x
- Auronen, L. (2003, May). Asymmetric information: theory and applications. In Seminar of Strategy and International Business as Helsinki University of Technology Vol. 167, 14-18.
- Bennett, C., Foley, M., & Pantuliano, S. (2016). Time to let go: Remaking humanitarian action for the modern era. ODI, London.
- Bennett, S., Ozawa, S., Rodriguez, D., Paul, A., Singh, K., & Singh, S. (2015). Monitoring and evaluating transition and sustainability of donor-funded programs: Reflections on the Avahan experience. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 52, 148-158.
- Bergh, D. D., Ketchen Jr, D. J., Orlandi, I., Heugens, P. P., & Boyd, B. K. (2019). Information asymmetry in management research: Past accomplishments and future opportunities. *Journal of Management*, 45(1), 122-158.
- Braun, V. & Clarke, V. (2006) 'Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3 (2). 77-101.
- British Red Cross (2018). *The case for complementarity*. Retrieved from file:///C:/Users/User/Downloads/the-case-for-complementarity-report.pdf

- Bruen, C., Brugha, R., Kageni, A., & Wafula, F. (2014). A concept in flux: questioning accountability in the context of global health cooperation. *Globalization and Health*, 10, 1-15.
- Burger, R., & Seabe, D. (2013). NGO accountability in Africa. In *The handbook of civil society in Africa* (pp. 77-91). New York, NY: Springer New York.
- Clough, S. E. (2018). The donor-NGO relationship and humanitarian assistance: monitoring and evaluation in the Syrian refugee response in Lebanon (Doctoral dissertation).
- Collinson, S. (2016). Constructive deconstruction: making sense of the international humanitarian system. Overseas Development Institute, London, July.
- Corbett, C. J., Pedraza-Martinez, A. J., & Van Wassenhove, L. N. (2022). Sustainable humanitarian operations: An integrated perspective. *Production and Operations Management*, 31(12), 4393-4406.
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research. Pearson Education, Inc.
- Creswell, J. W., & Garrett, A. L. (2008). The "movement" of mixed methods research and the role of educators. *South African journal of education*, *28*(3), 321-333.
- Cuevas-Rodríguez, G., Gomez-Mejia, L. R., & Wiseman, R. M. (2012). Has agency theory run its course?: Making the theory more flexible to inform the management of reward systems. *Corporate Governance: An International Review*, *20*(6), 526-546.
- de Groote, J.K., Schell, S., Kammerlander, N. et al. (2023). The role of similarity and complementarity in the selection of potential partners for open innovation projects in family firms. *Small Bus Econ* 60, 1347–1367.
- DeJonckheere, M. & Vaughn, L. (2019) 'Semi-structured interviewing in primary care research: a balance of relationship and rigour' *Fam Med Com Health*, 2019 (7).
- Dixon, S. J., Romera Moreno, E., Sadozai, A., & Haj Asaad, A. (2016). Localisation of humanitarian response in the Syrian crisis. *Confluences Méditerranée*, (4), 109-121.
- Ebrahim, A. (2003). Accountability in practice: Mechanisms for NGOs. World development, 31(5), 813-829.
- Ekanayake, S. (2004). Agency theory, national culture and management control systems. *Journal of American academy of business*, 4(1/2), 49-54.
- Elbers, W., & Arts, B. (2011). Keeping body and soul together: Southern NGOs' strategic responses to donor constraints. *International review of administrative sciences*, 77(4), 713-732.

- Erdilmen, M., & Sosthenes, W. A. (2020). Opportunities and challenges for localization of humanitarian action in Tanzania. Local Engagement Refugee Research Network Paper, 8, 1-35.
- Eribo, S. (2021). COVID-19 and African civil society organizations: Impact and responses. *Alliance for African Partnership Perspectives*, 1(1), 147-155.
- Featherstone, A. (2019). NEAR Localisation performance measurement framework. The Network for Empowered Aid Response (NEAR). Accessed Aug 8, from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/340248858 Featherstone A 2019 NE AR Localisation performance measurement framework
- Fetters, M. D., & Freshwater, D. (2015). Publishing a methodological mixed methods research article. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 9(3), 203-213.
- Frennesson, L., Kembro, J., de Vries, H., Jahre, M., & Van Wassenhove, L. (2022). International humanitarian organizations' perspectives on localization efforts. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 83, 103410
- Gailmard, S. (2014). Accountability and principal-agent theory. doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199641253.013.0016. 90–105
- Gent, S. E., Crescenzi, M. J., Menninga, E. J., & Reid, L. (2015). The reputation trap of NGO accountability. *International Theory*, 7(3), 426-463.
- Global Mentoring Initiative. (2023). Global Solidarity, Local Leadership, and Transformation of the International Aid System: Practical Dimensions of Localisation. Accessed Aug 8, from <u>https://www.gmentor.org/equitable-partnership</u>
- Goldsmith, A., & Harris, V. (2012). Trust, trustworthiness and trust-building in international policing missions. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Criminology*, 45(2), 231-254.
- Gray, R., Bebbington, J., & Collison, D. (2006). NGOs, civil society and accountability: making the people accountable to capital. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*.
- Guyatt, H. (2022). Unpacking the value of locally led humanitarian action. Accessed June 15, from <u>https://odihpn.org/publication/unpacking-the-value-of-locally-led-</u> <u>humanitarian-action/</u>
- Harris, J. E., Gleason, P. M., Sheean, P. M., Boushey, C., Beto, J. A., & Bruemmer, B. (2009). An introduction to qualitative research for food and nutrition professionals. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 109(1), 80-90.
- Harris, V., & Tuladhar, S. (2019). Humanitarian localisation: Can we put values into practice?. In *Ethics in a crowded world: Globalisation, human movement and professional ethics* (Vol. 22, pp. 33-55). Emerald Publishing Limited.

- Hearn, J. (2007). African NGOs: the new compradors?. Development and change, 38(6), 1095-1110
- Holland, J., & Ruedin, L. (2012). Monitoring and evaluating empowerment processes. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (Ed.), Poverty reduction and pro-growth: The role of empowerment, 265-28
- Howorth, J. (2010). The EU as a global actor: grand strategy for a global grand bargain?. JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies, 48(3), 455-474.
- Humanitarian Advisory Group. (2019). MEASURING LOCALISATION: FRAMEWORK AND TOOLS. Accessed June 15, from https://humanitarianadvisorygroup.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Measuring-Localisation-Framework-and-Tools-Final\_2019.pdf
- Hutchings, R., & Kempe, F. (2008). The global grand bargain. Foreign Policy.
- Inter-Agency Standing Committee. (2021). The Grand Bargain 2.0 Structure. Accessed Aug 8, from <u>https://interagencystandingcommittee.org/grand-bargain-official-website/grand-bargain-20-structure</u>
- Jideofor, N. (2021). The Localization Spirit: Shifting Power or Accountability? Accessed June 15, from <u>https://medium.com/unhcr-innovation-service/the-localization-spirit-shifting-power-or-accountability-94774e3b88c4</u>
- Kandola, D., Banner, D., O'Keefe-McCarthy, S., & Jassal, D. (2014). Sampling Methods in Cardiovascular Nursing Research: An Overview. *Canadian Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 24(3).
- Khan, A. K., & Kontinen, T. (2022). Impediments to localization agenda: humanitarian space in the Rohingya response in Bangladesh. *Journal of International Humanitarian Action*, 7(1), 1-15.
- Khan, S., (2014) 'Qualitative Research Method: Grounded Theory' International Journal of Business and Management 9 (11), 224-234.
- Lam, L. M. (2023). Asymmetrical power relationships in disaster reduction remain the key barrier to sustainable recovery: Neoliberalism and Nepal's post-earthquake recovery experiences. *Sustainable Development*.
- Lane, M. (2010). Business-NGO Partnerships: The Challenges of Inequality and Time Management. Retrieved from https://www.bsr.org/en/blog/business-ngopartnerships-the-challenges-of-inequality-and-timemanagement#:~:text=The%20best%20partnerships%20involve%20contributions, partnership%20is%20often%20not%20equal.

- Lie, J. H. S. (2020). The humanitarian-development nexus: humanitarian principles, practice, and pragmatics. *Journal of International Humanitarian Action*, 5 (1), 18.
- Lister, S. (2000). Power in partnership? An analysis of an NGO's relationships with its partners. *Journal of international Development*, 12(2), 227-239.
- Lunenburg, F. C., & Irby, B. J. (2008). Writing a successful thesis or dissertation: Tips and strategies for students in the social and behavioral sciences. Corwin press.
- Macrae, J. (Ed.). (2002). The new humanitarianisms: a review of trends in global humanitarian action. London: Humanitarian Policy Group, Overseas Development Institute.
- Maguire, M. & Delahunt, B. (2017) 'Doing a Thematic Analysis: A Practical, Step-by-Step Guide for Learning and Teaching Scholars' *AISHE-J*, 8(3), 3351-33513.
- Mason, J. (2006). Mixing methods in a qualitatively driven way. Qualitative research, 6(1), 9-25.
- Mayer, C. L. (2007). Larger-scale organizations: relationship of local groups, other INGOs and IGOs working in their region, with the international military presence and with the sending organization. [Online]. Available at http://www.irenees.net/bdf\_fiche-analyse-

726\_fr.html#:~:text=Most%20INGOs%20have%20formalised%20relationships,pr ojects%20for%20the%20targeted%20group Accessed: June 19, 2023.

- Melkinovas, A., (2018) 'Towards an Explicit Research Methodology: Adapting Research Onion Model for Futures Studies' *Journal of Futures Studies*, 23(2), 29–44.
- Metcalfe-Hough, V., Fenton, W., Willitts-King, B., & Spencer, A. (2021). The Grand Bargain at five years: an independent review.
- Milner, H. V. (2006). Why multilateralism? Foreign aid and domestic principal-agent problems. *Delegation*
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European journal of general practice*, 24(1), 9-18.
- Mueller-Hirth, N. (2012). If you don't count, you don't count: Monitoring and evaluation in South African NGOs. *Development and Change*, *43*(3), 649-670.
- Nicaise, G. (2020). Covid-19 and Donor Financing: Minimising Corruption Risks while Ensuring Efficiency; Chr. *Michelsen Institute (CMI): Bergen, Norway.*
- Noble, H. & Mitchell, G. (2016) 'What is grounded theory?' *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 19(2), 1-2.
- OECD. (2017) Localising The Response: World Humanitarian Summit Putting Policy Into Practice. Accessed Aug 8, from <u>https://www.oecd.org/development/humanitariandonors/docs/Localisingtheresponse.pdf</u>

- Panda, B., & Leepsa, N. M. (2017). Agency theory: Review of theory and evidence on problems and perspectives. *Indian journal of corporate governance*, *10*(1), 74-95.
- Parker, B. (2016). What Does Localisation of Humanitarian Aid Mean in Practice. Interview with Ben Parker at AidEx, Brussels (YouTube video).
- Parker, D. W., Dressel, U., Chevers, D., & Zeppetella, L. (2018). Agency theory perspective on public-private-partnerships: International development project. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 67(2), 239-259.
- Parks, T. (2008). The rise and fall of donor funding for advocacy NGOs: Understanding the impact. *Development in practice*, *18*(2), 213-222.
- Partos. (2022). Dream paper: Shift the Power. Accessed June 15, from https://www.partos.nl/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Partos-Dreampaper-Shiftthe-Power-v7.pdf
- Partos. (n.d).Power Awareness Tool: A tool for analysing power in partnerships for development. Accessed June 15, from <u>https://www.partos.nl/publicatie/the-power-awareness-tool/</u>
- Pellowska, D. (2022). Towards facilitating local leadership in humanitarian project management. Discussion Paper. https://www. alnap. org/help-library/towards-facilitating-localleadership-in-humanitarian-project-management.
- Pouligny, B. (2003). UN peace operations, INGOs, NGOs, and promoting the rule of law: exploring the intersection of international and local norms in different postwar contexts. *Journal of Human Rights*, 2(3), 359-377.
- Rauchhaus, R. W. (2009). Donor-recipient problems in humanitarian intervention: Moral hazards, adverse selection, and the commitment dilemma. *International Studies Quarterly*, 53(4), 871-884.
- Robillard, S., Jean, I., Gingerich, T., Mejía, C. E., Farfan, L. B., Grisgraber, D., ... & Maxwell,D. (2020). Anchored in local reality: case studies on local humanitarian action from Haiti, Colombia, and Iraq.
- Takahashi, A. & Araujo, L. (2020) 'Case study research: opening up research opportunities' RAUSP Manag. J., 55(1), 100-111
- The Inter-Agency Standing Committee. (IASC). (2016). The Localization Spirit: Shifting Power or Accountability? Accessed June 15, from <u>https://medium.com/unhcr-innovation-service/the-localization-spirit-shifting-power-or-accountability-94774e3b88c4</u>

- Tie, Y., Birks, M. & Francis, K. (2019) 'Grounded theory research: A design framework for novice researchers' *SAGE Open Med.* 7(2).
- Tongco, M. D. C. (2017). Purposive sampling as a tool for informant selection. *Ethnobotany Research and applications*, *5*, 147-158.
- UNDP (2020). UNDP Sierra Leone: 2020 Anual Report. https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/2023-06/undp\_sierra\_leone\_2020\_annual\_report\_.pdf
- UNHCR. (n.d). Humanitarian principles. Accessed August 5, from <a href="https://emergency.unhcr.org/protection/protection-principles/humanitarian-principles#:~:text=The%20principal%20motivation%20of%20humanitarian,natural%20or%20man%2Dmade%20disaster">https://emergency.unhcr.org/protection/protection-principles/humanitarian-principles#:~:text=The%20principal%20motivation%20of%20humanitarian,natural%20or%20man%2Dmade%20disaster</a>.
- United Nations High Commission for Refugee (UNHCR) (2023). Humanitarian principles. Accessed Aug 8, from <u>https://emergency.unhcr.org/protection/protection-principles/humanitarian-principles</u>
- United Nations. (n.d). Deliver Humanitarian Aid. Accessed August 5, from <u>https://www.un.org/en/our-work/deliver-humanitarian-aid</u>
- Van Brabant, K., & Patel, S. (2017). Understanding the localisation debate. *Global Mentoring Initiative*, July, 10.
- Van Brabant, K., & Patel, S. (2018). Localisation in practice: emerging indicators and practical recommendations. *Disasters and Emergencies: Preparedness Programme*.
- Van Puyvelde, S., Caers, R., Du Bois, C., & Jegers, M. (2012). The governance of nonprofit organizations: Integrating agency theory with stakeholder and stewardship theories. *Nonprofit and voluntary sector quarterly*, 41(3), 431-451.
- Van Wessel, M., Hilhorst, D., Schulpen, L., & Biekart, K. (2020). Government and civil society organizations: Close but comfortable? Lessons from creating the Dutch "Strategic Partnerships for Lobby and Advocacy". Development Policy Review, 38(6), 728-746
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Getting started: How to know whether and when to use the case study as a research method. *Case study research: Design and methods*, *5*, 2-25.